Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust

Statement of Additional Information

Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust (the "Trust") is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), as a newly organized, diversified, closed-end management investment company. The Trust's investment objective is to provide current income and additional total return. Thornburg Investment Management, Inc., the investment adviser of the Trust ("Thornburg" or the "Adviser"), will attempt to achieve the Trust's investment objective by allocating the Trust's assets among the following investment opportunities: global equity and global debt. See "Investment Objective, Strategy and Policies—Principal Investment Strategy" in the Prospectus (as defined below). There is no assurance that the Trust will achieve its investment objective.

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") relating to the shares of common stock of the Trust (the "Common Shares") is not a prospectus, but should be read in conjunction with the prospectus for the Trust dated July 27, 2021 (the "Prospectus"). This SAI does not include all information that a prospective investor should consider before purchasing Common Shares. Investors should obtain and read the Prospectus prior to purchasing such Common Shares. A copy of the Prospectus may be obtained without charge by calling the Trust at 1-800-847-0200.

The Prospectus and this SAI omit certain of the information contained in the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Washington, D.C. The registration statement may be obtained from the SEC upon payment of the fee prescribed, or inspected at the SEC's office or via its website (www.sec.gov) at no charge. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Prospectus.

This Statement of Additional Information is dated July 27, 2021.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS	3
INVESTMENT POLICIES AND TECHNIQUES	5
MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST	30
Investment Adviser	30
Investment Advisory Agreement	31
Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement	31
Portfolio Managers	31
Compensation of Portfolio Managers	32
Portfolio Manager Ownership of Trust Shares	32
Conflicts of Interest	32
Other Accounts Managed	34
Administrator	34
Codes of Ethics	34
TRUST SERVICE PROVIDERS	34
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	34
Legal Counsel	35
Custodian, Transfer Agent and Dividend Disbursing Agent	35
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS	35
U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX MATTERS	36
Trust Taxation	36
Shareholder Taxation	38
Non-U.S. Common Shareholders	42
BOARD TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS	43
Trustee Ownership in the Trust	45
Securities Beneficially Owned	45
PROXY VOTING GUIDELINES	46
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	46
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	47
APPENDIX A—DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS	A-1

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

Except as otherwise indicated, the Trust's investment policies are not fundamental and may be changed without a vote of Common Shareholders. There can be no assurance the Trust's investment objective will be met.

Any investment restrictions herein that involve a maximum percentage of securities or assets shall not be considered to be violated unless an excess over the percentage occurs immediately after and is caused by an acquisition or encumbrance of securities or assets of, or borrowings by, the Trust. However, the asset coverage requirement applicable to borrowings will be maintained as required under the 1940 Act.

As a matter of fundamental policy, the Trust will not:

(1) with respect to 75% of its total assets, purchase any securities (other than Government securities (as defined in the 1940 Act) and securities issued by other investment companies), if, as a result, more than 5% of the Trust's total assets would then be invested in securities of any single issuer or if, as a result, the Trust would hold more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any single issuer;

(2) borrow money, except as permitted under the 1940 Act, as it may be amended, interpreted or modified from time to time by Congress or regulatory authorities having jurisdiction, including, for the avoidance of doubt, SEC staff interpretations;

(3) issue senior securities, except as permitted under the 1940 Act, as it may be amended, interpreted or modified from time to time by Congress or regulatory authorities having jurisdiction, including, for the avoidance of doubt, SEC staff interpretations;

(4) purchase any security if, as a result, 25% or more of the Trust's total assets (taken at current value) would be invested in any single industry or group of industries;

(5) engage in the business of underwriting securities issued by others, except to the extent that the Trust may be deemed to be an underwriter in connection with the disposition of portfolio securities;

(6) purchase or sell real estate, which term does not include securities of companies which deal in real estate or mortgages or investments secured by real estate or interests therein, except that the Trust reserves freedom of action to hold and to sell real estate acquired as a result of the Trust's ownership of securities;

(7) purchase or sell commodities, unless acquired as a result of ownership of securities or other instruments; provided that this restriction shall not prohibit the Trust from purchasing or selling options, futures contracts and related options thereon, forward contracts, swaps, caps, floors, collars and any other financial instruments or from investing in securities or other instruments backed by physical commodities or as otherwise permitted by the 1940 Act, as amended, interpreted or modified from time to time by Congress or regulatory authorities having jurisdiction, including, for the avoidance of doubt, SEC staff interpretations, or pursuant to an exemption or other relief applicable to the Trust from the provisions of the 1940 Act, as amended from time to time; or

(8) make loans, except as permitted under the 1940 Act, as it may be amended, interpreted or modified from time to time by Congress or regulatory authorities having jurisdiction, including, for the avoidance of doubt, SEC staff interpretations, or except as may be permitted by exemptive orders granted under the 1940 Act.

A fundamental policy may not be changed without the approval of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Trust which, under the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder and as used in this SAI, means the lesser of (1) 67% or more of the voting securities present at such meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Trust are present or represented by proxy, or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Trust.

Fundamental Investment Restriction (2)

The 1940 Act permits the Trust to borrow money in an amount up to one-third of its total assets (including the amount borrowed) less its liabilities (not including any borrowings but including the fair market value at the time of computation of any other senior securities then outstanding). The Trust may also borrow an additional 5% of its total assets without regard to the foregoing limitation for temporary purposes such as clearance of portfolio transactions.

Practices and investments that may involve leverage but are not considered to be borrowings are not subject to the policy. For more information on leverage and the risks relating thereto, see "Risks—Structural Risk—Leverage Risk" in the Prospectus.

Fundamental Investment Restriction (3)

The ability of a closed-end fund to issue senior securities is severely circumscribed by complex regulatory constraints under the 1940 Act that restrict, for instance, the amount, timing, and form of senior securities that may be issued. Certain portfolio management techniques, such as reverse repurchase agreements, credit default swaps, futures contracts, the purchase of securities on margin or the writing of puts on portfolio securities, may be considered senior securities unless appropriate steps are taken to segregate assets or otherwise cover obligations. To the extent the Trust covers its commitment under these transactions, including by the segregation of liquid assets, such instrument will not be considered a "senior security" by the Trust and therefore will not be subject to the 300% asset coverage requirement otherwise applicable to borrowings by the Trust (or, as the case may be, the 200% asset coverage requirement applicable to preferred stock issued by the Trust).

The Trust does not intend to employ leverage. Although it has no present intention to do so, the Trust reserves the right to in the future employ leverage. Under the 1940 Act, the issuance of any other type of senior security by the Trust is subject to a requirement that provision is made that, (i) if on the last business day of each of 12 consecutive calendar months the asset coverage with respect to the senior security is less than 100%, the holders of such securities voting as a class shall be entitled to elect at least a majority of the Board with such voting right to continue until the asset coverage for such class of senior security is at least 110% on the last business day of each of 3 consecutive calendar months or, (ii) if on the last business day of each of 24 consecutive calendar months the asset coverage for such class of senior security is less than 100%, an event of default shall be deemed to have occurred.

Fundamental Investment Restriction (4)

In determining whether an issuer should be classified in a particular industry for purposes of restriction number 4 above, Thornburg may rely on its own analysis of the issuer or on available third party industry classifications. Securities of the U.S. Government and its agencies and instrumentalities are not considered to represent industries for this purpose.

Fundamental Investment Restriction (7)

The ability of the Trust to invest directly in commodities, and in certain commodity-related securities and other instruments, is subject to significant limitations in order to enable the Trust to maintain its status as a regulated investment company under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").

Fundamental Investment Restriction (8)

The 1940 Act does not prohibit a fund from making loans; however, SEC staff interpretations currently prohibit funds from lending more than one-third of their total assets, except through the purchase of debt obligations or the use of repurchase agreements. A repurchase agreement is an agreement to purchase a security, coupled with an agreement to sell that security back to the original seller on an agreed-upon date at a price that reflects current interest rates. The SEC frequently treats repurchase agreements as loans.

INVESTMENT POLICIES AND TECHNIQUES

The following describes certain investment practices and techniques in which the Trust may engage, and certain of the risks associated with such practices and techniques, and includes a discussion of the spectrum of investments that the Adviser in its discretion may, but are not required to, use in managing the Trust's assets. The following descriptions supplement the descriptions of the investment objective, policies, strategies and risks as set forth in the Prospectus.

Furthermore, it is possible that certain types of financial instruments or investment techniques described herein may not be available, permissible, economically feasible or effective for their intended purposes in all markets. Certain practices, techniques or instruments may not be principal activities of the Trust but, to the extent employed, could from time to time have a material impact on the Trust's performance.

Global Equity Allocation. In managing the Trust's global equity allocation, the Adviser will invest in any stock or other equity security that the Adviser believes will assist the Trust in pursuing its investment goals, including preferred stock, business development companies, publicly traded real estate investment trusts, other equity trusts and partnership interests, and depositary receipts such as American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"), Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs") and European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs"). The Trust may invest in companies of any market capitalization and may invest in both U.S. and non-U.S. countries, including developing countries. The Trust may invest in non-U.S. domiciled issuers, including up to 20% of the Trust's Managed Assets at the time of investment in emerging market issuers. The Trust may also invest in securities of other open- or closed-end investment companies, including exchange-traded funds, subject to applicable regulatory limits, that invest primarily in securities of the types in which the Trust may invest directly. The Trust expects that equity investments in the Trust's global equity allocation is expected to represent 75% of the total assets of the Trust, including assets attributable to leverage, minus liabilities (the "Managed Assets"), and may vary over time between 50% to 90% of Managed Assets.

Global Debt Allocation. In managing the Trust's global debt allocation, the Adviser will invest in debt obligations of any kind, including credit and credit-related instruments, including without limitation, corporate bonds, revolving lines of credit, options on bonds, syndicated corporate loans, mortgage and asset-backed securities, debt securities and similar instruments issued by U.S. and non-U.S. corporate entities and governments and supranational entities, as well as U.S. government-sponsored agency debentures, warrant-linked bonds, convertible securities, and taxable, tax-exempt and tax-advantage municipal securities. The Trust's investments in mortgage-backed securities may include residential mortgage-backed securities and commercial mortgage-backed securities. It is expected that the Trust's investments in mortgage-backed securities will not exceed 20% of the Trust's Managed Assets. The Trust may invest without limitation in illiquid or less liquid investments or investments in which no secondary market is readily available or which are otherwise illiquid. The Trust may purchase mezzanine, second lien, distressed and other securities or instruments that are rated below investment grade or that are unrated, including "leveraged loans", "high yield" or "junk" bonds and debt obligations of any maturity and of any credit quality. The Trust will invest no more than 10% of its Managed Assets in bond, debt or credit investments rated CCC/Caa or lower (or are unrated but judged by the Adviser to be of comparable quality) at the time of investment. The Trust may also invest up to 20% of Managed Assets in receivables, non-syndicated corporate debt, asset purchase guarantees, debtor-in-possession loans, trade claims and whole consumer loans. While the Trust does not intend to originate loans, the Trust's investments in asset-backed securities may include securitizations of consumer loans. Initially, the Trust's global debt allocation is expected to represent 25% of Managed Assets and may vary over time between 10% to 50% of Managed Assets.

Option Overlay. The Trust intends to write (sell) covered call options on a portion of the individual common stocks in its portfolio and write (sell) call and put options on indices of securities and sectors of securities (collectively referred to as "index options"). In employing the option overlay, the Trust will seek to enhance its ability to retain option premiums in varying equity market environments, by maintaining the flexibility to manage different covered call contracts and to take into account differences in volatility and sector or company specific factors when making investment decision. The notional amount of the Trust's options overlay will be approximately 10% to 40% of the Trust's Managed Assets, although this percentage may vary from time to time with market conditions. Under current market conditions with higher levels of volatility, the Trust anticipates writing out-of-the-money individual call options, the notional amount of which would be approximately 35% of the Trust's Managed Assets. The option overlay allocation may vary over extended periods of time depending on market conditions and Trust Management's ongoing assessment of covered call option risk-adjusted returns. The Adviser may actively manage the option overlay based on macroeconomic and security-specific insights and will vary the terms of the option overlay, including the notional value of the option overlay.

The Trust's options overlay is intended to generate current income from options premiums and to improve the Trust's riskadjusted returns. The strike and expiration selection will vary based on market conditions and yield targets, but the Trust generally writes options that are "out-of-the-money"—in other words, the strike price of a written call option will be greater than the market price of the underlying security on the date that the option is written, or, for a written put option, less than the market price of the underlying security on the date that the option is written; however, the Trust may also write "at-the-money" or "in-the-money" options for defensive or other purposes. Option expirations will vary and typically range up to 6 months.

The Trust's investments are determined by individual issuer and industry analysis. Investment decisions are based on domestic and international economic developments, outlooks for securities markets, interest rates and inflation, the supply and demand for debt and equity securities, and analysis of specific issuers. The Trust ordinarily acquires and holds debt obligations for investment rather than for realization of gains by short-term trading on market fluctuations. However, the Trust may dispose of any such security prior to its scheduled maturity to enhance income or reduce loss, to change the portfolio's average maturity, or otherwise to respond to market conditions.

Common Stocks. Common stock is issued by companies to raise cash for business purposes and represents a proportionate interest in the issuing companies. Therefore, the investor participates in the success or failure of any company in which it holds stock. The market values of common stock can fluctuate significantly, reflecting the business performance of the issuing company, investor perception and general economic or financial market movements. Smaller companies are especially sensitive to these factors and may even become valueless.

Equity Securities. Equity securities consist of common stock, convertible preferred stock, rights and warrants. Common stocks, the most familiar type, represent an equity (ownership) interest in a corporation. Warrants are options to purchase equity securities at a specified price for a specific time period. Rights are similar to warrants, but normally have a short duration and are distributed by the issuer to its shareholders. Although equity securities have a history of long-term growth in value, their prices fluctuate based on changes in a company's financial condition and on overall market and economic conditions.

Investments in equity securities are subject to inherent market risks and fluctuations in value due to earnings, economic conditions and other factors beyond the control of the Adviser. As a result, the return and NAV of the Trust will fluctuate. Securities in the Trust's portfolio may not increase as much as the market as a whole and some undervalued securities may continue to be undervalued for long periods of time. Although profits in some other investment company holdings may be realized quickly, it is not expected that most investments will appreciate rapidly.

Fixed Income. Fixed income investments include bonds, debt securities and income-producing instruments of any kind issued by governmental or private-sector entities. The Trust's fixed income investments may be sourced in the primary and secondary markets. Most fixed income investments consist of a security or instrument having one or more of the following characteristics: a fixed-income security, a security issued at a discount to its face value, a security that pays interest or a security with a stated principal amount that requires repayment of some or all of that principal amount to the holder of the security. The Adviser interprets the term fixed income broadly as an instrument or security evidencing what is commonly referred to as an IOU rather than evidencing the corporate ownership of equity unless that equity represents an indirect or derivative interest in one or more debt securities. The Trust may invest in a wide variety of fixed income instruments of varying maturities issued by U.S. and foreign corporations and other business entities, governments and municipalities and other issuers, including taxable, tax-exempt and tax-advantaged municipal securities. Fixed income investments and similar instruments and securities. Fixed income investments generally are used by corporations as well as governments and other issuers to borrow money from investors. The issuer pays the investor a fixed or variable rate of interest and normally must repay the amount borrowed on or before maturity. Some fixed income investments are "perpetual" in that they have no maturity date.

Emerging Markets Securities. Investing in emerging market securities imposes risks different from, or greater than, risks of investing in foreign developed countries. These risks include (i) the smaller market capitalization of securities markets, which may suffer periods of relative illiquidity, (ii) significant price volatility, (iii) restrictions on foreign investment, and (iv) possible repatriation of investment income and capital. In addition, foreign investors may be required to register the proceeds of sales, and future economic or political crises could lead to price controls, forced mergers, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, seizure, nationalization, or the creation of government monopolies. The currencies of emerging market countries may experience significant declines against the U.S. dollar, and devaluation may occur subsequent to investments in these currencies by the Trust. Inflation and rapid fluctuations in inflation rates have had, and may continue to have, negative effects on the economies and securities markets of certain emerging market countries.

Certain emerging markets limit, or require governmental approval prior to, investments by foreign persons. Repatriation of investment income and capital from certain emerging markets is subject to certain governmental consents. Even where there is no outright restriction on repatriation of capital, the mechanics of repatriation may negatively affect the Trust.

Investments in emerging markets may be considered speculative. In addition, currency hedging techniques may be unavailable in certain emerging market countries. Further, any change in the leadership or politics of emerging market countries, or the countries that exercise a significant influence over those countries, may halt the expansion of or reverse the liberalization of foreign investment policies now occurring and adversely affect existing investment opportunities. The small size, limited trading volume and relative inexperience of the securities markets in these countries may make investments in securities traded in emerging markets illiquid and more volatile than investments in securities traded in more developed countries. In addition, the Trust may be required to establish special custodial or other arrangements before making investments in securities traded in emerging markets. The risk also exists that an emergency situation may arise in one or more emerging markets as a result of which trading of securities may cease or may be substantially curtailed and prices for securities in such markets may not be readily available.

Additional risks of emerging markets securities may include (i) greater social, economic and political uncertainty and instability (including amplified risk of war and terrorism), (ii) more substantial governmental involvement in the economy, (iii) less governmental supervision and regulation, (iv) the unavailability of currency hedging technique, (v) companies that are newly organized and small, (vi) differences in auditing and financial reporting standards, which may result in unavailability of material information about issuers, and (vii) less developed legal systems. In addition, emerging securities markets may have different clearance and settlement procedures, which may be unable to keep pace with the volume of securities transactions or otherwise make it difficult to engage in such transactions. Settlement problems may cause the Trust to miss attractive investment opportunities, hold a portion of its assets in cash pending investment, or be delayed in disposing of a portfolio security. Such a delay could result in possible liability to a purchaser of the security.

Loans, Assignments and Participations. The Trust may make loans, and may acquire or invest in loans made by others. The Trust may acquire a loan interest directly by acting as a member of the original lending syndicate. Alternatively, the Trust may acquire some or all of the interest of a bank or other lending institution in a loan to a particular borrower, by means of an assignment or a participation. In an assignment, the Trust assumes all of the rights of a lending institution in a loan, including the right to receive payments of principal and interest and other amounts directly from the borrower and to enforce its rights as a lender directly against the borrower. The Trust assumes the position of a co-lender with other syndicate members. As an alternative, the Trust may purchase a participating interest in a portion of the rights of a lending institution in a loan. In such case, the Trust will generally be entitled to receive from the lending institution amounts equal to the payments of principal, interest and premium, if any, on the loan received by the institution, but will not generally be entitled to enforce its rights directly against the agent bank or the borrower, and must rely for that purpose on the lending institution. In the case of a participation, the value of the Trust's loan investment will depend at least in part on the credit standing of the assigning or participating institution. The loans in which the Trust may invest include those that pay fixed rates of interest and those that pay floating rates—i.e., rates that adjust periodically based on a known lending rate, such as a bank's prime rate. Investments in loans may be of any quality, including "distressed" loans. The Trust also may gain exposure to loans and related investments through the use of total and excess return swaps and/or other derivative instruments and through private funds and other pooled investment vehicles, including some which may be sponsored or advised by the Adviser or its related parties (see "Derivatives").

Many loans are made by a syndicate of banks, represented by an agent bank (the "Agent") which has negotiated and structured the loan and which is responsible generally for collecting interest, principal, and other amounts from the borrower on its own behalf and on behalf of the other lending institutions in the syndicate (the "Lenders"), and for enforcing its and their other rights against the borrower. Each of the lending institutions, which may include the Agent, lends to the borrower a portion of the total amount of the loan, and retains the corresponding interest in the loan. Unless, under the terms of the loan or other indebtedness, the Trust has direct recourse against the borrower, the Trust may have to rely on the Agent or other financial intermediary to apply appropriate credit remedies against a borrower.

The Trust's ability to receive payments of principal and interest and other amounts in connection with loan participations held by it will depend primarily on the financial condition of the borrower (and, in some cases, the lending institution from which it purchases the loan). The value of collateral, if any, securing a loan can decline, or may be insufficient to meet the borrower's obligations or may be difficult to liquidate. In addition, the Trust's access to collateral may be limited by bankruptcy or other insolvency laws. The failure by the Trust to receive scheduled interest or principal payments on a loan would adversely affect the income of the Trust and would likely reduce the value of its assets, which would be reflected in a reduction in the Trust's NAV. Loans that are fully secured offer the Trust more protection than an unsecured loan in the event of non-payment of scheduled interest or principal. However, there is no assurance that the liquidation of collateral from a secured loan would satisfy the corporate borrower's obligation, or that the collateral can be liquidated. Indebtedness of companies whose creditworthiness is poor involves substantially greater risks, and may be highly speculative. Some companies may never pay off their indebtedness, or may pay only a small fraction of the amount owed. Consequently, when investing in indebtedness of companies with poor credit, the Trust bears a substantial risk of losing the entire amount invested.

Banks and other lending institutions generally perform a credit analysis of the borrower before originating a loan or participating in a lending syndicate. In selecting the loans in which the Trust will invest, however, the Adviser will not rely solely on that credit analysis, but will perform its own investment analysis of the borrowers. The Adviser's analysis may include consideration of the borrower's financial strength and managerial experience, debt coverage, additional borrowing requirements or debt maturity schedules, changing financial conditions, and responsiveness to changes in business conditions and interest rates. Because loans in which the Trust may invest may not be rated by independent credit rating agencies, a decision by the Trust to invest in a particular loan may depend heavily on the Adviser's or the original lending institution's credit analysis of the borrower.

Loans and other types of direct indebtedness may not be readily marketable and may be subject to restrictions on resale. In some cases, negotiations involved in disposing of indebtedness may require weeks to complete. Consequently, some indebtedness may be difficult or impossible to dispose of readily at what the Adviser believes to be a fair price. Additionally, even where there is a market for certain loans the settlement period may be extended, up to several weeks or longer. That means the Trust may have a limited ability to receive payment promptly on the sale of some of the loans in its portfolio. In addition, valuation of illiquid indebtedness involves a greater degree of judgment in determining the Trust's NAV than if that value were based on available market quotations, and could result in significant variations in the Trust's daily share price. At the same time, some loan interests are traded among certain financial institutions and accordingly may be deemed liquid. The Adviser will determine the liquidity of the Trust's investments by reference to, among other things, market conditions and contractual provisions. Assignments and participations are generally not registered under the Securities Act, and thus investments in them may be less liquid or illiquid.

Although the Trust has no present intention to do so, the Trust may originate and own entire whole loans. In addition to interest, the Trust could receive origination fees, extension fees, modification or similar fees in connection with whole mortgage or other loans. Investments in loans through a direct or originated loan may involve additional risks to the Trust. For example, if a loan is foreclosed, the Trust could become part or sole owner of any collateral, and would bear the costs and liabilities associated with owning and disposing of the collateral. In addition, it is conceivable that under emerging legal theories of lender liability, the Trust could be held liable as co-owner. Lender liability may be founded upon the premise that an institutional lender has violated a duty of good faith and fair dealing owed to the borrower or has assumed a degree of control over the borrower resulting in creation of a fiduciary duty owed to the borrower or its other creditors or shareholders. In addition, courts have in some cases applied the doctrine of equitable subordination to subordinate the claim of a lending institution against a borrower to claims of other creditors of the borrower when the lending institution is found to have engaged in unfair, inequitable, or fraudulent conduct.

From time to time, loans or assignment or participation interests therein acquired by the Trust, or to which the Trust may have direct or indirect investment exposure, will at the time of their acquisition be, or may become after acquisition, non-performing for a wide variety of reasons. Non-performing loans include mortgages where the borrower is in default or is or has been delinquent as to the payment of interest and/or principal, including, potentially, for a significant period of time. Such non-performing loans could require a substantial amount of workout negotiations and/or restructuring, which could entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the interest rate and a substantial write down of the principal of such loans. Even if a restructuring were successfully accomplished, a risk exists that upon maturity of such a loan, replacement "takeout" financing will not be available.

There may be instances in which the Trust invests in covenant-lite loans, which means the obligation contains fewer maintenance covenants than other obligations, or no maintenance covenants, and may not include terms that allow the lender to monitor the performance of the borrower and declare a default if certain criteria are breached. An investment by the Trust in a covenant-lite loan may potentially hinder the Trust's ability to reprice credit risk associated with the issuer and reduce the Trust's ability to restructure a problematic loan and mitigate potential loss. As a result, the Trust's exposure to losses may be increased, which could result in an adverse impact on the Trust.

Loans and certain other forms of direct indebtedness may not be classified as "securities" under the federal securities laws and, therefore, purchasers of such instruments may not be entitled to the protections against fraud and misrepresentation contained in the federal securities laws.

It is the position of the SEC that, in the case of loan participations or assignments where a bank or other lending institution serves as a financial intermediary between the Trust and the corporate borrower, if the participation does not shift to the Trust the direct debtor-creditor relationship with the borrower, the Trust should treat both the lending bank or other lending institution and the borrower as "issuers." If and to the extent the Trust treats a financial intermediary as an issuer of indebtedness, the Trust may in certain circumstances be limited in its ability to invest in indebtedness related to a single financial intermediary, or a group of intermediaries engaged in the same industry, even if the underlying borrowers represent many different companies and industries.

Economic exposure to loan interests through the use of derivative transactions, including, among others, total and excess return swaps, may involve greater risks than if the Trust had invested in the loan interest directly during a primary distribution or through assignments of, or participations in, a bank loan acquired in secondary markets since, in addition to the risks described above, certain derivative transactions may be subject to leverage risk and greater illiquidity risk, counterparty risk, valuation risk and other risks.

Options Overlay. The Trust may seek to generate income from option premiums by writing (selling) options. A call option, upon payment of a premium, gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy, and the seller of the option the obligation to sell, the underlying security, futures contract, index, currency, or other instrument at the option exercise price. A put option gives the purchaser of the option, upon payment of a premium, the right to sell, and the writer of the option the obligation to buy, the underlying instrument at the option exercise price. The Trust may write (sell) call options (i) on a portion of the equity securities (including equity securities obtainable by the Trust through the exercise of its rights with respect to convertible securities it owns) in the Trust's portfolio and (ii) on broad-based securities indexes (such as the Standard and Poor's 500[®] Index ("S&P 500") or the MSCI EAFE[®] Index ("MSCI EAFE"), which is an index of international equity stocks), or certain ETFs that trade like common stocks but seek to replicate such market indexes.

In addition, to seek to offset some of the risk of a potential decline in value of certain long positions, the Trust may also purchase put options on individual securities, broad-based securities indexes (such as the S&P 500 or MSCI EAFE), or certain ETFs that trade like common stocks but seek to replicate such market indexes.

The Trust will write call options and put options only if they are "covered." For example, a call option written by the Trust will require the Trust to hold the securities subject to the call (or securities convertible into the needed securities without additional consideration) or to segregate cash or liquid assets sufficient to purchase and deliver the securities if the call is exercised. A call option sold by the Trust on an index will require the Trust to own portfolio securities which correlate with the index or to segregate cash or liquid assets equal to the exercise price on a current basis. A put option written by the Trust requires the Trust to segregate cash or liquid assets equal to the exercise price.

Below Investment Grade Securities. Below investment grade securities, which are commonly referred to as "leveraged loans", "junk" or "high yield" securities, are considered to be high-risk investments. The risks include the following:

Greater Risk of Loss. These securities are regarded as predominately speculative. There is a greater risk that issuers of lower-rated securities will default than issuers of higher-rated securities. Issuers of lower-rated securities generally are less creditworthy and may be highly indebted, financially distressed or bankrupt. These issuers are more vulnerable to real or perceived economic changes, political changes or adverse industry developments. In addition, below investment grade securities are frequently subordinated to the prior payment of senior indebtedness. If an issuer fails to pay principal or interest, the fund would experience a decrease in income and a decline in the market value of its investments. The Trust also may incur additional expenses in seeking recovery from the issuer.

Sensitivity to Interest Rate and Economic Changes. The income and market value of lower-rated securities may fluctuate more than higher-rated securities. Although certain below investment grade securities may be less sensitive to interest rate changes than investment grade securities, below investment grade securities generally are more sensitive to short-term corporate, economic and market developments. During periods of economic uncertainty and change, the market price of the investments in lower-rated securities may be volatile. The default rate for high yield bonds tends to be cyclical, with defaults rising in periods of economic downturn.

Valuation Difficulties. It is often more difficult to value lower-rated securities than higher-rated securities. If an issuer's financial condition deteriorates, accurate financial and business information may be limited or unavailable. In addition, the lower-rated investments may be thinly traded and there may be no established secondary market. Because of the lack of market pricing and current information for investments in lower-rated securities, valuation of such investments is much more dependent on judgment than is the case with higher-rated securities.

Liquidity. There may be no established secondary or public market for investments in lower-rated securities. Such securities are frequently traded in markets that may be relatively less liquid than the market for higher-rated securities. In addition, relatively few institutional purchasers may hold a major portion of an issue of lower-rated securities at times. As a result, lower-rated securities may be required to be sold at substantial losses or retained indefinitely even where an issuer's financial condition is deteriorating.

Credit Quality. Credit quality of below investment grade securities can change suddenly and unexpectedly, and even recentlyissued credit ratings may not fully reflect the actual risks posed by a particular below investment grade security.

New Legislation. Future legislation may have a possible negative impact on the market for below investment grade securities.

Municipal Securities. The Trust may invest in debt obligations issued by or on behalf of states, territories and possessions of the United States, including the District of Columbia, and their political subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities. The Trust may invest in various municipal securities, municipal bonds and municipal notes, securities issued to finance and refinance public projects and other related securities and derivative instruments creating exposure to municipal bonds, notes and securities that provide for the payment of interest income that is exempt from regular U.S. federal income tax. Municipal securities are often issued by state and local governmental entities to finance or refinance public projects, such as roads, schools, and water supply systems. Municipal securities also may be issued on behalf of private entities or for private activities, such as housing, medical and educational facility construction, or for privately owned transportation, electric utility and pollution control projects. Municipal securities may be issued on a long-term basis to provide long-term financing. The repayment of such debt may be secured generally by a pledge of the full faith and credit taxing power of the issuer, a limited or special tax, or any other revenue source, including project revenues, which may include tolls, fees and other user charges, lease payments, and mortgage payments. Municipal securities also may be issued to finance projects on a short-term interim basis, anticipating repayment with the proceeds of the later issuance of long-term debt. The Trust may purchase municipal securities in the form of bonds, notes, leases or certificates of participation; structured as callable or non-callable; with payment forms that include fixed coupon, variable rate, zero coupon, capital appreciation bonds, tender option bonds, and residual interest bonds or inverse floating rate securities; or acquired through investments in pooled vehicles, partnerships, or other investment companies.

Taxable Municipal Securities. The Trust may invest in taxable municipal securities, which primarily consist of Build America Bonds ("BABs"). BABs are taxable municipal obligations issued pursuant to legislation providing for the issuance of taxable municipal debt on which the issuer receives federal support of the interest paid. Enacted in February 2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the "ARRA") authorizes state and local governments to issue taxable bonds on which, assuming certain specified conditions are satisfied, issuers may either (i) receive payments from the U.S. Treasury with respect to the bonds' interest payments ("direct pay" BABs) or (ii) provide tax credits to investors in the bonds ("tax credit" BABs). BABs offer an alternative form of financing to state and local governments whose primary means for accessing the capital markets has been through issuance of tax-free municipal bonds. BABs can appeal to a broader array of investors than the high income U.S. taxpayers that have traditionally provided the market for municipal bonds. Unlike most other municipal obligations, interest received on BABs is subject to federal and state income tax. Under the terms of the ARRA, issuers of direct pay BABs are entitled to receive payments from the U.S. Treasury

over the life of the bond equal to 35% (or 45% in the case of Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds) of the interest paid and investors in tax credit BABs can receive a federal tax credit of 35% of the coupon interest received.

The federal interest subsidy or tax credit continues for the life of the bonds. The Trust may invest in direct pay BABs or tax credit BABs. Pursuant to the ARRA, the issuance of BABs was discontinued on December 31, 2010. Under the sequestration process under the Budget Control Act of 2011, automatic spending cuts that became effective on March 1, 2013 reduced the federal subsidy for BABs and other subsidized taxable municipal bonds. The reduced federal subsidy has been extended through 2024. The subsidy payments were reduced by 6.6% in 2018 and 6.2% in 2019. The Fund cannot predict future reductions in the federal subsidy for BABs and other subsidized taxable municipal bonds.

Convertible Securities. Convertible securities include fixed income securities that may be exchanged or converted into a predetermined number of shares of the issuer's underlying common stock at the option of the holder during a specified period. Convertible securities may take the form of convertible preferred stock, convertible bonds or debentures, units consisting of "usable" bonds and warrants or a combination of the features of several of these securities. Convertible securities are senior to common stocks in an issuer's capital structure but are usually subordinated to similar non-convertible securities. While providing a fixed-income stream (generally higher in yield than the income derivable from common stock but lower than that afforded by a similar nonconvertible security), a convertible security also gives an investor the opportunity, through its conversion feature, to participate in the capital appreciation of the issuing company depending upon a market price advance in the convertible security's underlying common stock.

Preferred Securities. Preferred securities pay fixed or floating dividends to investors, and have a "preference" over common stock in the payment of dividends and the liquidation of a company's assets. This means that a company must pay dividends on preferred stock before paying any dividends on its common stock. Preferred stockholders usually have no right to vote for corporate directors or on other matters.

Business Development Companies. Business development companies ("BDCs") are a type of closed-end investment company regulated under the 1940 Act. BDCs typically invest in and lend to small and medium-sized private and certain public companies that may not have access to public equity or debt markets for capital raising. BDCs invest in such diverse industries as healthcare, chemical and manufacturing, technology and service companies. At least 70% of a BDC's investments must be made in private and certain public U.S. businesses, and BDCs are required to make available significant managerial assistance to their portfolio companies. Unlike corporations, BDCs are not taxed on income distributed to their shareholders, provided they comply with the applicable requirements of the Code.

Investments in BDCs may be subject to a high degree of risk. BDCs typically invest in small and medium-sized private and certain public companies that may not have access to public equity or debt markets for capital raising. As a result, a BDC's portfolio typically will include a substantial amount of securities purchased in private placements, and its portfolio may carry risks similar to those of a private equity or venture capital fund. Securities that are not publicly registered may be difficult to value and may be difficult to sell at a price representative of their intrinsic value. Small and medium-sized companies also may have fewer lines of business so that changes in any one line of business may have a greater impact on the value of their stock than is the case with a larger company. To the extent a BDC focuses its investments in a specific sector, the BDC will be susceptible to adverse conditions and economic or regulatory occurrences affecting the specific sector or industry group, which tends to increase volatility and result in higher risk. Investments in BDC's portfolio when the underlying securities are redeemed or sold, during periods of market turmoil and as investors' perceptions regarding a BDC or its underlying investments change. Private BDCs are illiquid investments, and there is no guarantee the Trust will be able to liquidate or sell its private BDC investments.

Certain BDCs may use leverage in their portfolios through borrowings or the issuance of preferred stock. While leverage may increase the yield and total return of a BDC, it also subjects the BDC to increased risks, including magnification of any investment losses and increased volatility. In addition, a BDC's income may fall if the interest rate on any borrowings of the BDC rises.

Risks faced by BDC's include: competition for limited BDC investment opportunities; the liquidity of a BDC's private investments; uncertainty as to the value of a BDC's private investments; risks associated with access to capital and leverage; and reliance on the management of a BDC. The Trust's investments in BDC's are similar and include portfolio company risk, leverage risk, market and valuation risk, price volatility risk and liquidity risk.

Exchange-Traded Funds and Other Investment Companies. The Trust may invest in shares of both open- or closed-end investment companies (including money market funds, single country funds, and ETFs of any kind) and trusts, limited partnerships, limited liability companies or other forms of business organizations, including other pooled investment. Investing in another pooled vehicle exposes the Trust to all the risks of that pooled vehicle.

As the shareholder of another investment company, the Trust would bear, along with other shareholders, its *pro rata* portion of the other investment company's expenses, including advisory fees. Such expenses are in addition to the expenses the Trust pays in connection with its own operations. The Trust's investments in other investment companies may be limited by applicable law. It is possible that, under certain circumstances, the Trust may be prevented by applicable law from investing in other investment companies when doing so may otherwise be the most efficient way for the Trust to obtain exposure to a portfolio of debt securities.

Despite the possibility of greater fees and expenses, investments in other investment companies may nonetheless be attractive for several reasons, especially in connection with foreign investments. Because of restrictions on direct investment by U.S. entities in certain countries, investing indirectly in such countries (by purchasing shares of another fund that is permitted to invest in such countries) may be the most practical and efficient way for the Trust to invest in such countries. In other cases, when a portfolio manager desires to make only a relatively small investment in a particular country, investing through another fund that holds a diversified portfolio in that country may be more effective than investing directly in issuers in that country.

Among the types of investment companies in which the Trust may invest are Exchange Traded Fund ("ETFs"). Index ETFs are open-end management investment companies that seek to provide investment results that correspond generally to the price and yield performance of a specified index (Index Fund). Individual investments in ETFs generally are not redeemable. However, large quantities of ETF shares known as "Creation Units" are redeemable from the ETF. The liquidity of smaller holdings of ETF shares will depend upon the existence of a secondary market.

Disruptions in the markets for the securities held by ETFs or other investment companies purchased or sold by the Trust could result in losses on investments in ETFs or other investment companies. ETFs also carry the risk that the price the Trust pays or receives may be higher or lower than the ETF's NAV. ETFs are also subject to certain additional risks, including the risks of illiquidity and of possible trading halts due to market conditions or other reasons, based on the policies of the relevant exchange. ETFs and other investment companies in which the Trust may invest may be leveraged, which would increase the volatility of the value of the Trust's Common Shares.

The SEC has proposed regulations that may adversely affect the Trust's ability to invest in other investment companies. The proposed regulations, if adopted, could also significantly affect the Trust's ability to redeem its investments in other investment companies in the manner that they do now, making such investments less attractive. The final terms of any proposed regulations are not known as of the date of this SAI, but they could cause the Trust to incur losses, realize taxable gains distributable to shareholders, incur greater or unexpected expenses or experience other adverse consequences.

Real Estate Investment Trusts. The Trust may invest in Real Estate Investment Trusts ("REITs"). REITs are pooled investment vehicles that own, and typically operate, income-producing real estate. If a REIT meets certain requirements, including distributing to shareholders substantially all of its taxable income (other than net capital gains), then it is not taxed on the income distributed to shareholders. REITs are subject to management fees and other expenses, and so the Trust will bear its proportionate share of the costs of the REITs' operations. There are three general categories of REITs: Equity REITs, Mortgage REITs and Hybrid REITs. Equity REITs, which invest primarily in direct fee ownership or leasehold ownership of real property and derive most of their income from rents, are generally affected by changes in the values of and incomes from the properties they own. Mortgage REITs invest mostly in mortgages on real estate, which may secure, for example, construction, development or long-term loans, and the main source of their income is mortgage interest payments. Mortgage REITs may be affected by the credit quality of the mortgage loans they hold. A hybrid REIT combines the characteristics of equity REITs and mortgage REITs, generally by holding both ownership interests and mortgage-related investments. Along with the risks common to different types of real estate-related investments, REITs, no matter the type, involve additional risk factors, including poor performance by the REIT's manager, adverse changes to the tax laws, and the possible failure by the REIT to qualify for the favorable tax treatment applicable to REITs under the Code or an exemption under the 1940 Act. REITs are not diversified and are heavily dependent on cash flow earned on the property interests they hold.

Mortgage REITs are exposed to the risks specific to the real estate market as well as the risks that relate specifically to the way in which mortgage REITs are organized and operated. Mortgage REITs receive principal and interest payments from the owners of the mortgaged properties. Accordingly, mortgage REITs are subject to the credit risk of the borrowers to whom they extend credit. Mortgage REITs are also subject to significant interest rate risk. Mortgage REITs typically use leverage and many are highly leveraged, which exposes them to the risks of leverage. Leverage risk refers to the risk that leverage created from borrowing may impair a mortgage REIT's liquidity, cause it to liquidate positions at an unfavorable time and increase the volatility of the values of securities issued by the mortgage REIT. The use of leverage may not be advantageous to a mortgage REIT. To the extent that a mortgage REIT incurs significant leverage, it may incur substantial losses if its borrowing costs increase or if the assets it purchases with leverage decrease in value.

The Trust's investment in a REIT may result in the Trust making distributions that constitute a return of capital to Trust shareholders for federal income tax purposes. In addition, distributions attributable to REITs made by the Trust to Trust shareholders will not qualify for the corporate dividends-received deduction, or, generally, for treatment as qualified dividend income. Certain distributions made by the Trust attributable to dividends received by the Trust from REITs may qualify as "qualified REIT dividends" in the hands of non-corporate shareholders. If the Trust receives qualified REIT dividends it is allowed to pass them through to Trust shareholders in the form of section 199A dividends. To the extent that the Trust designates dividends it pays to its shareholders as section 199A dividends such shareholder may be eligible for a 20% deduction with respect to such dividends.

Investments in REITs or real-estate linked derivative instruments include the risks associated with owning real estate and the real estate industry generally. These risks include difficulties in valuing and disposing of real estate, the possibility of declines in the value of real estate, risks related to general and local economic conditions, the possibility of adverse changes in the climate for real estate, environmental liability risks, the risk of increases in property taxes and operating expenses, possible adverse changes in zoning laws, the risk of casualty or condemnation losses, limitations on rents, the possibility of adverse changes in interest rates and in the credit markets and the possibility of borrowers paying off mortgages sooner than expected, which may lead to reinvestment of assets at lower prevailing interest rates. REITs may default on obligations or go bankrupt. Shareholders bear not only their proportionate share of the Trust's expenses, but also, indirectly, similar expenses of REITs held by the Trust. Investments in REITs could cause the Trust to recognize income in excess of cash received, and in order to make distributions, the Trust may be required to sell portfolio securities.

Derivatives. The Trust may utilize various other investment strategies as described below for a variety of purposes, such as hedging various market risks or enhancing return. These strategies may be executed through the use of derivative contracts. The other investment companies may also utilize derivative contracts and are thus subject to the same risks described below.

In the course of pursuing these investment strategies, the Trust may purchase and sell exchange-listed and over-the-counter put and call options on securities, equity and fixed-income indices and other instruments, purchase and sell futures contracts and options thereon, enter into various transactions such as swaps, caps, floors or collars, (collectively, all the above are called "Derivative Transactions"). In addition, Derivative



Transactions may also include new techniques, instruments or strategies that are permitted as regulatory changes occur. Derivative Transactions may be used without limit (subject to certain limits imposed by the 1940 Act) to attempt to protect against possible changes in the market value of securities held in or to be purchased for the Trust's portfolio resulting from securities markets fluctuations, to protect the Trust's unrealized gains in the value of its portfolio securities, to facilitate the sale of such securities for investment purposes, to manage the effective maturity or duration of the Trust's portfolio, or to establish a position in the derivatives markets as a substitute for purchasing or selling particular securities. Some Derivative Transactions may also be used to enhance potential gain. Any or all of these investment techniques may be used at any time and in any combination, and there is no particular strategy that dictates the use of one technique rather than another, as use of any Derivative Transaction is a function of numerous variables including, but not limited to, market conditions. The ability of the Trust to utilize these Derivative Transactions successfully will depend on the Adviser's ability to predict pertinent market movements, which cannot be assured. The Trust's use of Derivative Transactions may also be limited by the requirements of the Code for qualification as a regulated investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Trust will comply with applicable regulatory requirements when implementing these strategies, techniques and instruments. Derivative Transactions will not be used to alter fundamental investment purposes and characteristics of the Trust, and the Trust will segregate assets (or as provided by applicable regulations, enter into certain offsetting positions) to cover its obligations under options, futures and swaps to limit leveraging of the Trust.

Derivative Transactions, including derivative contracts, have risks associated with them including, but not limited to, possible default by the other party to the transaction, illiquidity and, to the extent the Adviser's view as to certain market movements is incorrect, the risk that the use of such Derivative Transactions could result in losses greater than if they had not been used. Use of Derivative Transactions may result in losses to the Trust, force the sale or purchase of portfolio securities at inopportune times or for prices higher than or lower than current market values, limit the amount of appreciation the Trust can realize on its investments or cause the Trust to hold a security it might otherwise sell.

The use of options and futures transactions entails certain other risks. In particular, the variable degree of correlation between price movements of futures contracts and price movements in the related portfolio position of the Trust creates the possibility that losses on the hedging instrument may be greater than gains in the value of the position the Trust is attempting to hedge. In addition, futures and options markets may not be liquid in all circumstances and certain over-the-counter options may have no markets. As a result, in certain markets, the Trust might not be able to close out a transaction without incurring substantial losses, if at all. Although the use of futures and options transactions for hedging should tend to reduce the risk of loss due to a decline in the value of the hedged position, at the same time they tend to limit any potential gain which might result from an increase in value of such position. Finally, the daily variation margin requirements for futures contracts would create a greater ongoing potential financial risk than would purchases of options, where the exposure is limited to the cost of the initial premium. Losses resulting from the use of Derivative Transactions would reduce NAV, and possibly income, and such losses can be greater than if the Derivative Transactions had not been utilized.

General Characteristics of Options. Put options and call options typically have similar structural characteristics and operational mechanics regardless of the underlying instrument on which they are purchased or sold. Thus, the following general discussion relates to each of the particular types of options discussed in greater detail below. In addition, many Derivative Transactions involving options require segregation of Trust assets in special accounts, as described below under "—Segregation and Cover Requirements."

A put option gives the purchaser of the option, upon payment of a premium, the right to sell, and the writer the obligation to buy, the underlying security, commodity, index or other instrument at the exercise price. For instance, the Trust's purchase of a put option on a security might be designed to protect its holdings in the underlying instrument (or, in some cases, a similar instrument) against a substantial decline in the market value by giving the Trust the right to sell such instrument at the option exercise price. A call option, upon payment of a premium, gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy, and the seller the obligation to sell, the underlying instrument at the exercise price. The Trust's purchase of a call option on a security, financial future, index or other instrument might be intended to protect the Trust against an increase in the price of the underlying instrument that it intends to purchase in the future by fixing the price at which it may purchase such instrument. An American style put or call option may be exercised at any time during the option period while a European

style put or call option may be exercised only upon expiration or during a fixed period prior thereto. The Trust is authorized to purchase and sell exchange listed options and over-the-counter options ("OTC Options"). Exchange listed options are issued by a regulated intermediary such as the Options Clearing Corporation ("OCC"), which guarantees the performance of the obligations of the parties to such options. The discussion below uses the OCC as an example, but is also applicable to other financial intermediaries.

With certain exceptions, OCC issued and exchange listed options generally settle by physical delivery of the underlying security, although in the future cash settlement may become available. Index options are cash settled for the net amount, if any, by which the option is "in-the-money" (*i.e.*, where the value of the underlying instrument exceeds, in the case of a call option, or is less than, in the case of a put option, the exercise price of the option) at the time the option is exercised. Frequently, rather than taking or making delivery of the underlying instrument through the process of exercising the option, listed options are closed by entering into offsetting purchase or sale transactions that do not result in ownership of the new option.

The Trust's ability to close out its position as a purchaser or seller of an OCC or exchange listed put or call option is dependent, in part, upon the liquidity of the option market. Among the possible reasons for the absence of a liquid option market on an exchange are: (i) insufficient trading interest in certain options; (ii) restrictions on transactions imposed by an exchange; (iii) trading halts, suspensions or other restrictions imposed with respect to particular classes or series of options or underlying securities including reaching daily price limits; (iv) interruption of the normal operations of the OCC or an exchange; (v) inadequacy of the facilities of an exchange or OCC to handle current trading volume; or (vi) a decision by one or more exchanges to discontinue the trading of options (or a particular class or series of options), in which event the relevant market for that option on that exchange would cease to exist, although outstanding options on that exchange would generally continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms.

The hours of trading for listed options may not coincide with the hours during which the underlying financial instruments are traded. To the extent that the option markets close before the markets for the underlying financial instruments, significant price and rate movements can take place in the underlying markets that cannot be reflected in the option markets.

OTC options are purchased from or sold to securities dealers, financial institutions or other parties ("Counterparties") through direct bilateral agreement with the Counterparty. In contrast to exchange listed options, which generally have standardized terms and performance mechanics, all the terms of an OTC option, including such terms as method of settlement, term, exercise price, premium, guarantees and security, are set by negotiation of the parties. The Trust will only sell OTC options that are subject to a buy-back provision permitting the Trust to require the Counterparty to sell the option back to the Trust at a formula price within seven days. The Trust expects generally to enter into OTC options that have cash settlement provisions, although it is not required to do so.

Unless the parties provide for it, there is no central clearing or guaranty function in an OTC option. As a result, if the Counterparty fails to make or take delivery of the security or other instrument underlying an OTC option it has entered into with the Trust or fails to make a cash settlement payment due in accordance with the terms of that option, the Trust will lose any premium it paid for the option as well as any anticipated benefit of the transaction. Accordingly, the Adviser as applicable, must assess the creditworthiness of each such Counterparty or any guarantor or credit enhancement of the Counterparty's credit to determine the likelihood that the terms of the OTC option will be satisfied. The Trust will engage in OTC option transactions only with U.S. government securities dealers recognized by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York as "primary dealers" or broker/dealers, domestic or foreign banks or other financial institutions which have received (or the guarantors of the obligation of which have received) a short-term credit rating of "A-1" from Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business ("S&P") or "P-1" from Moody's Investor Services, Inc. ("Moody's") or an equivalent rating from any nationally recognized statistical rating organization ("NRSRO") or, in the case of OTC currency options, are determined to be of equivalent credit quality by the Adviser, as applicable. The staff of the SEC currently takes the position that OTC options purchased by the Trust, and portfolio securities "covering" the amount of the Trust's obligation pursuant to an OTC option sold by it (the cost of the sell-back plus the in-the-money amount, if any) are illiquid.

If the Trust sells a call option, the premium that it receives may serve as a partial hedge, to the extent of the option premium, against a decrease in the value of the underlying securities or instruments in its portfolio or will increase the Trust's income. The sale of put options can also provide income.

The Trust may purchase and sell call options on securities including U.S. Treasury and agency securities, corporate debt securities and equity securities (including convertible securities) that are traded on U.S. securities exchanges and in the over-the-counter markets, and on securities indices and futures contracts. All calls sold by the Trust must be "covered" (*i.e.*, the Trust must own the securities or futures contract subject to the call) or must meet the asset segregation requirements described below as long as the call is outstanding. Even though the Trust will receive the option premium to help protect it against loss, a call sold by the Trust exposes the Trust during the term of the option to possible loss of opportunity to realize appreciation in the market price of the underlying security or instrument and may require the Trust to hold a security or instrument which it might otherwise have sold.

The Trust may purchase and sell put options on securities including U.S. Treasury and agency securities, corporate debt securities and equity securities (including convertible securities), whether or not it holds the above securities in its portfolio, and on securities indices and futures contracts other than futures on individual corporate debt and individual equity securities. In selling put options, there is a risk that the Trust may be required to buy the underlying security at a disadvantageous price above the market price.

General Characteristics of Futures. The Trust may enter into futures contracts or purchase or sell put and call options on such futures as a hedge against anticipated interest rate or equity market changes or to enhance returns. Futures are generally bought and sold on the commodities exchanges where they are listed with payment of initial and variation margin as described below. The sale of a futures contract creates a firm obligation by the Trust, as seller, to deliver to the buyer the specific type of financial instrument called for in the contract at a specific future time for a specified price (or, with respect to index futures, the net cash amount). Options on futures contracts are similar to options on securities except that an option on a futures contract gives the purchaser the right in return for the premium paid to assume a position in a futures contract and obligates the seller to deliver such position.

Typically, maintaining a futures contract or selling an option thereon requires the Trust to deposit with a financial intermediary as security for its obligations an amount of cash or other specified assets (initial margin), which initially is typically 1% to 10% of the face amount of the contract (but may be higher in some circumstances). Additional cash or assets (variation margin) may be required to be deposited thereafter on a daily basis as the mark-to-market value of the contract fluctuates. The purchase of an option on financial futures involves payment of a premium for the option without any further obligation on the part of the Trust. If the Trust exercises an option on a futures contract it will be obligated to post initial margin (and potential subsequent variation margin) for the resulting futures position just as it would for any position. Futures contracts and options thereon are generally settled by entering into an offsetting transaction but there can be no assurance that the position can be offset prior to settlement at an advantageous price, nor that delivery will occur.

Options on Securities Indices and Other Financial Indices. The Trust also may purchase and sell call and put options on securities indices and other financial indices and in so doing can achieve many of the same objectives it would achieve through the sale or purchase of options on individual securities or other instruments. Options on securities indices and other financial indices are similar to options on a security or other instrument except that, rather than settling by physical delivery of the underlying instrument, they settle by cash settlement, *i.e.*, an option on an index gives the holder the right to receive, upon exercise of the option, an amount of cash if the closing level of the index upon which the option is based exceeds, in the case of a call, or is less than, in the case of a put, the exercise price of the option (except if, in the case of an OTC option, physical delivery is specified). This amount of cash is equal to the excess of the closing price of the index over the exercise price of the option, which also may be multiplied by a formula value. The seller of the option is obligated, in return for the premium received, to make delivery of this amount. The gain or loss on an option on an index depends on price movements in the instruments making up the market, market segment, industry or other composite on which the underlying index is based, rather than price movements in individual securities, as is the case with respect to options on securities.

Swaps, Caps, Floors and Collars. Among the Derivative Transactions into which the Trust may enter are interest rate, index and other swaps and the purchase or sale of related caps, floors and collars. The Trust expects to enter into these transactions primarily to preserve a return or spread on a particular investment or portion of its portfolio, as a duration management technique or to protect against any increase in the price of securities the Trust anticipates purchasing at a later date. The Trust will not sell interest rate caps or floors where it does not own securities or other instruments providing the income stream the Trust may be obligated to pay. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange by the Trust with another party of their respective commitments to pay or receive interest, *e.g.*, an exchange of floating rate payments for fixed rate payments with respect to a notional amount of principal. An index swap is an agreement to swap cash flows on a notional amount based on changes in the values of the reference indices. The purchase of a cap entitles the purchaser to receive payments on a notional principal amount from the party selling such cap to the extent that a specified index exceeds a predetermined interest rate or amount. The purchase of a floor entitles the purchaser to receive payments on a notional principal amount from the party selling such floor to the extent that a specified index falls below a predetermined interest rate or amount. A collar is a combination of a cap and a floor that preserves a certain return within a predetermined range of interest rates or values.

The Trust will usually enter into swaps on a net basis, *i.e.*, the two payment streams are netted out in a cash settlement on the payment date or dates specified in the instrument, with the Trust receiving or paying, as the case may be, only the net amount of the two payments. Inasmuch as the Trust will segregate assets (or enter into offsetting positions) to cover its obligations under swaps, the Trust believes such obligations do not constitute senior securities under the 1940 Act and, accordingly, will not treat them as being subject to its borrowing restrictions. If there is a default by the Counterparty, the Trust may have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction.

Credit Default Swap Agreements. The Trust may enter into credit default swap agreements. The "buyer" in a credit default contract is obligated to pay the "seller" a periodic stream of payments over the term of the contract *provided* that no event of default on an underlying reference obligation has occurred. If an event of default occurs, the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value, or "par value," of the reference obligation. Credit default swap transactions are either "physical delivery" settled or "cash" settled. Physical delivery entails the actual delivery of the reference asset to the seller in exchange for the payment of the full par value of the reference asset. Cash settled entails a net cash payment from the seller to the buyer based on the difference of the par value. The Trust may be either the buyer or seller in a credit default swap transaction. If the Trust is a buyer and no event of default occurs, the Trust will have made a series of periodic payments and recover nothing of monetary value. However, if an event of default occurs, the Trust (if the buyer) will receive the full notional value of the reference obligation either through a cash payment in exchange for the asset or a cash payment in addition to owning the reference assets. As a seller, the Trust receives a fixed rate of income throughout the term of the contract, which typically is between six months and five years, *provided* that there is no event of default. If an event of default occurs, the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value of the reference obligation.

Credit default swap transactions involve greater risks than if the Trust had invested in the reference obligation directly. In addition to general market risks, credit default swaps are subject to liquidity risk, counterparty risk and credit risks, each as further described below. Moreover, if the Trust is a buyer, it will lose its investment and recover nothing should no event of default occur. If an event of default were to occur, the value of the reference obligation received by the seller, coupled with the periodic payments previously received, may be less than the full notional value it pays to the buyer, resulting in a loss of value to the Trust. When the Trust acts as a seller of a credit default swap agreement it is exposed to the risks of leverage since if an event of default occurs the seller must pay the buyer the full notional value of the reference obligation. Accordingly, when the Trust acts as a seller of a credit default swap agreement, it will segregate assets equal to the full notional amount of the reference obligation.

A credit default index swap is a swap on an index of credit default swaps. Credit default index swaps allow an investor to manage credit risk or to take a position on a basket of credit default swaps (or other instruments) in a more efficient manner than transacting in single name credit default swaps. If a credit event occurs in one of the underlying companies, the protection is paid out via the delivery of the defaulted bond by the buyer of protection in return for payment of the notional value of the defaulted bond by the seller of protection or it may be settled through a cash settlement between the two parties. The underlying company is then removed from the index.

Structured Notes. Structured notes are derivative debt securities, the interest rate or principal of which is determined by reference to changes in value of a specific security, reference rate, or index. Indexed securities, similar to structured notes, are typically, but not always, debt securities whose value at maturity or coupon rate is determined by reference to other securities. The performance of a structured note or indexed security is based upon the performance of the underlying instrument, but may involve a formula that multiplies the effect of certain aspects of the performance of that instrument, so that the performance of the derivative is more or less volatile than that of the underlying instrument.

The terms of a structured note may provide that, in certain circumstances, no principal is due on maturity and, therefore, may result in loss of investment. Structured notes may be indexed positively or negatively to the performance of the underlying instrument such that the appreciation or deprecation of the underlying instrument will move in the same direction as the value of the structured note at maturity or of any coupon payment. In addition, changes in the interest rate and value of the principal at maturity may be fixed at a specific multiple of the change in value of the underlying instrument, making the value of the structured note more volatile than the underlying instrument. In addition, structured notes may be less liquid and more difficult to price accurately than less complex securities or traditional debt securities.

Commodity-Linked Derivatives. The Trust may invest in instruments with principal and/or coupon payments linked to the value of commodities, commodity futures contracts, or the performance of commodity indices such as "commodity-linked" or "index-linked" notes. These instruments are sometimes referred to as "structured notes" because the terms of the instrument may be structured by the issuer of the note and the purchaser of the note, such as the Trust.

The values of these notes will rise and fall in response to changes in the underlying commodity or related index or investment. These notes expose the Trust economically to movements in commodity prices, but a particular note has many features of a debt obligation. These notes also are subject to credit and interest rate risks that in general affect the value of debt securities. Therefore, at the maturity of the note, the Trust may receive more or less principal than it originally invested. The Trust might receive interest payments on the note that are more or less than the stated coupon interest rate payments.

Structured notes may involve leverage, meaning that the value of the instrument will be calculated as a multiple of the upward or downward price movement of the underlying commodity future or index. The prices of commodity-linked instruments may move in different directions than investments in traditional equity and debt securities in periods of rising inflation, which may provide the Trust with a desired degree of diversity. Of course, there can be no guarantee that the Trust's commodity-linked investments would not be correlated with traditional financial assets under any particular market conditions.

Commodity-linked notes may be issued by U.S. and foreign banks, brokerage firms, insurance companies and other corporations. These notes, in addition to fluctuating in response to changes in the underlying commodity assets, will be subject to credit and interest rate risks that typically affect debt securities.

The commodity-linked instruments may be wholly principal protected, partially principal protected or offer no principal protection. With a wholly principal protected instrument, the Trust will receive at maturity the greater of the par value of the note or the increase in value of the underlying index. Partially protected instruments may suffer some loss of principal up to a specified limit if the underlying index declines in value during the term of the instrument. For instruments without principal protection, there is a risk that the instrument could lose all of its value if the index declines sufficiently. The Adviser's decision on whether and to what extent to use principal protection depends in part on the cost of the protection. In addition, the ability of the Trust to take advantage of any protection feature depends on the creditworthiness of the instrument.

Commodity-linked derivatives are generally hybrid instruments which are excluded from regulation under the Commodity Exchange Act (the "CEA") and the rules thereunder. Additionally, from time to time the Trust may invest in other hybrid instruments that do not qualify for exemption from regulation under the CEA.

Segregation and Cover Requirements. As an investment company registered with the SEC, the Trust must segregate liquid assets, or engage in other measures to "cover" open positions with respect to certain kinds of derivatives and other transactions. The Trust may incur losses on derivatives and other leveraged investments (including the entire amount of a fund's investment in such investments) even if they are covered. To the extent

that a fund does not segregate liquid assets or otherwise cover its obligations under any such transactions (*e.g.*, through offsetting positions), certain types of these transactions will be treated as senior securities representing leverage for purposes of the requirements under the 1940 Act; and, therefore, a fund may not enter into any such transactions if the fund's leverage would thereby exceed the limits of the 1940 Act. The Trust may employ a combination of segregation and cover with respect to any particular derivative or other transaction.

The Trust's derivative transactions are generally subject to earmarking and coverage requirements of either the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC") or the SEC, with the result that, if the Trust does not hold the security or futures contract underlying the instrument, the Trust intends to designate on its books and records on an ongoing basis, cash or liquid securities in an amount at least equal to the Trust's obligations with respect to such instruments. Such amounts may fluctuate as the obligations increase or decrease. The earmarking requirement can result in the Trust maintaining securities positions it would otherwise liquidate, segregating assets at a time when it might be disadvantageous to do so and otherwise restrict portfolio management.

In general, either the full amount of any obligation by the Trust to pay or deliver securities or assets must be covered at all times by the securities or instruments required to be delivered, or, subject to any regulatory restrictions, an amount of liquid assets at least equal to the current amount of the obligation must be segregated with the custodian or sub-custodian of the Trust in accordance with established procedures. The segregated assets cannot be sold or transferred unless equivalent assets are substituted in their place or it is no longer necessary to segregate them. A call option on securities written by the Trust, for example, will require the Trust to hold the securities subject to the call (or securities convertible into the needed securities without additional consideration) or to segregate liquid high-grade debt obligations sufficient to purchase and deliver the securities if the call is exercised. A call option sold by the Trust on an index will require the Trust to own portfolio securities that correlate with the index or to segregate liquid high-grade debt obligations equal to the excess of the index value over the exercise price on a current basis. A put option on securities written by the Trust will require the Trust to segregate liquid high-grade debt obligations equal to the exercise price.

OTC Options entered into by the Trust, including those on securities, financial instruments or indexes, and OCC-issued and exchange-listed index options will generally provide for cash settlement, although the Trust will not be required to do so. As a result, when the Trust sells these instruments it will segregate an amount of assets equal to its obligations under the options. OCC-issued and exchange-listed options sold by the Trust other than those described above generally settle with physical delivery, and the Trust will segregate an amount of assets equal to the full value of the option. OTC options settling with physical delivery or with an election of either physical delivery or cash settlement will be treated the same as other options settling with physical delivery.

In the case of a futures contract or an option on a futures contract, the Trust must deposit the initial margin and, in some instances, the daily variation margin in addition to segregating liquid assets sufficient to meet its obligations to purchase or provide securities or currencies, or to pay the amount owed at the expiration of an index-based futures contract. The Trust will accrue the net amount of the excess, if any, of its obligations relating to swaps over its entitlements with respect to each swap on a daily basis and will segregate with its custodian, or designated sub-custodian, an amount of liquid assets having an aggregate value equal to at least the accrued excess. Caps, floors and collars require segregation of liquid assets with a value equal to the Trust's net obligation, if any.

In the case of forward currency contracts that are not contractually required to cash settle, the Trust must set aside liquid assets equal to such contracts' full notional value while the positions are open. With respect to forward currency contracts that are contractually required to cash settle, however, the Trust is permitted to set aside liquid assets in an amount equal to the Trust's daily marked-to-market net obligations (*i.e.*, the Trust's daily net liability) under the contracts, if any, rather than such contracts' full notional value.

In the case of swaps that do not cash settle, for example, the Trust must set aside liquid assets equal to the full notional amount of the swaps while the positions are open. With respect to swaps that cash settle, however, the Trust may set aside liquid assets in an amount equal to the Trust's daily marked-to-market net obligations (*i.e.*, the Trust's daily net liability) under the swaps, if any, rather than their full notional amount.

Derivatives may be covered by means other than those described above when consistent with applicable regulatory policies. The Trust may also enter into offsetting transactions so that its combined position, coupled with any segregated assets, equals its net outstanding obligation in related derivatives. Other derivatives may also be offset in combinations. If the offsetting transaction terminates at the time of or after the primary transaction, no segregation is required, but if it terminates prior to that time, assets equal to any remaining obligation would need to be segregated. The Trust reserves the right to modify its asset segregation policies in the future to comply with any changes in the positions from time to time articulated by the SEC or its staff regarding asset segregation.

The use of segregation and cover does not eliminate the risk of loss on a derivative or other leveraging position.

Combined Transactions. The Trust may enter into multiple transactions, including multiple options transactions, multiple futures transactions, multiple currency transactions (including forward currency contracts) and multiple interest rate transactions and any combination of futures, options, currency and interest rate transactions ("component" transactions), instead of a single Derivative Transaction, as part of a single or combined strategy when, in the opinion of the Adviser, it is in the best interests of the Trust to do so. A combined transaction will usually contain elements of risk that are present in each of its component transactions. Although combined transactions are normally entered into based on the Adviser's judgment that the combined strategies will reduce risk or otherwise more effectively achieve the desired portfolio management goal, it is possible that the combination will instead increase such risks or hinder achievement of the portfolio management objectives.

Regulation as a "Commodity Pool." The CFTC has adopted amendments to CFTC Rule 4.5 which requires operators of registered investment companies to either limit such investment companies' use of futures, options on futures and swaps or register as a commodity pool operator ("CPO") and submit to dual regulation by the CFTC and the SEC. In order to be able to comply with the exclusion from the CPO definition pursuant to CFTC Rule 4.5 with respect to the Trust, the Adviser must limit the Trust's transactions in commodity futures, commodity option contracts and swaps for non-hedging purposes by either (a) limiting the aggregate initial margin and premiums required to establish non-hedging commodities positions to not more than 5% of the liquidation value of the Trust's portfolio after taking into account unrealized profits and losses on any such contract or (b) limiting the aggregate net notional value of non-hedging commodities positions to not more than 100% of the liquidation value of the Trust's portfolio after taking into account unrealized profits and losses on such positions. In the event that the Trust's investments in such instruments exceed such thresholds, the Adviser would no longer be excluded from the CPO definition and may be required to register as a CPO. In the event the Adviser is required to register as a CPO, as applicable, it will become subject to additional recordkeeping and reporting requirements with respect to the Trust. The Adviser intends to claim an exclusion from the definition of a CPO with respect to the Trust under the amended rules. The Trust reserves the right to engage in transactions involving futures, options thereon and swaps in accordance with the Trust's policies. The Trust does not anticipate that it will invest in commodity futures, commodity options contracts and swaps to an extent or in a manner that would require the Adviser to register as a CPO (as applicable) in connection with their management of the Trust.

Commercial Paper. Commercial paper represents short-term unsecured promissory notes issued in bearer form by corporations such as banks or bank holding companies and finance companies. The rate of return on commercial paper may be linked or indexed to the level of exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and a foreign currency or currencies.

Distressed and Defaulted Securities. Defaulted securities risk refers to the uncertainty of repayment of defaulted securities (e.g., a security on which a principal or interest payment is not made when due) and obligations of distressed issuers. Because the issuer of such securities is in default and is likely to be in distressed financial condition, repayment of defaulted securities and obligations of distressed issuers (including insolvent issuers or issuers in payment or covenant default, in workout or restructuring or in bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings) is subject to significant uncertainties. Insolvency laws and practices in emerging market countries are different than those in the U.S. and the effect of these laws and practices cannot be predicted with certainty. Investments in defaulted securities and obligations of distressed issuers are considered speculative and entail high risk. The Trust will not invest in securities in default at time of purchase, however, the Trust is not required to sell any securities that default after acquisition.

Mortgage-Backed and Asset-Backed Securities. Mortgage-backed securities, including collateralized mortgage obligations ("CMOs") and certain stripped mortgage-backed securities, represent a participation in, or are secured by, mortgage loans. Assetbacked securities are structured like mortgage-backed securities, but instead of mortgage loans or interests in mortgage loans, the underlying assets may include such items as credit card and automobile finance receivables, student loans, consumer loans, installment loan contracts, home equity loans, mobile home loans, boat loans, business and small business loans, project finance loans, airplane leases, and leases of various other types of real and personal property (including those relating to railcars, containers, or telecommunication, energy, and/or other infrastructure assets and infrastructure-related assets), and other non-mortgage-related income streams, such as income from renewable energy projects and franchise rights. The cash flow generated by the underlying assets is applied to make required payments on the securities and to pay related administrative expenses. The amount of residual cash flow resulting from a particular issue of asset-backed or mortgage-backed securities depends on, among other things, the characteristics of the underlying assets, the coupon rates on the securities, prevailing interest rates, the amount of administrative expenses and the actual prepayment experience on the underlying assets. The Trust may invest in any such instruments or variations as may be developed, to the extent consistent with its investment objective and policies and applicable regulatory requirements. In general, the collateral supporting asset-backed securities is of a shorter maturity than mortgage loans and is likely to experience substantial prepayments.

Mortgage-backed securities have yield and maturity characteristics corresponding to the underlying assets. Unlike traditional debt securities, which may pay a fixed rate of interest until maturity, when the entire principal amount comes due, payments on certain mortgage-backed securities include both interest and a partial repayment of principal. Besides the scheduled repayment of principal, repayments of principal may result from the voluntary prepayment, refinancing or foreclosure of the underlying mortgage loans. If property owners make unscheduled prepayments of their mortgage loans, these prepayments will result in early payment of the applicable mortgage-backed securities. In that event the Trust may be unable to invest the proceeds from the early payment of the mortgage-backed securities in an investment that provides as high a yield as the mortgage-backed securities. Consequently, early payment associated with mortgage-backed securities may cause these securities to experience significantly greater price and yield volatility than that experienced by traditional fixed-income securities. The occurrence of mortgage prepayments is affected by factors including the level of interest rates, general economic conditions, the location and age of the mortgage and other social and demographic conditions. During periods of falling interest rates, the rate of mortgage prepayments tends to increase, thereby tending to decrease the life of mortgage-backed securities. During periods of rising interest rates, the rate of mortgage prepayments usually decreases, thereby tending to increase the life of mortgage-backed securities. If the life of a mortgage-backed security is inaccurately predicted, the Trust may not be able to realize the rate of return it expected.

Adjustable rate mortgages ("ARMs"), like traditional mortgage-backed securities, are interests in pools of mortgage loans that provide investors with payments consisting of both principal and interest as mortgage loans in the underlying mortgage pool are paid off by the borrowers. Unlike fixed-rate mortgage-backed securities, ARMs are collateralized by or represent interests in mortgage loans with variable rates of interest. These interest rates are reset at periodic intervals, usually by reference to an interest rate index or market interest rate. Although the rate adjustment feature may act as a buffer to reduce sharp changes in the value of adjustable rate securities, these securities are still subject to changes in value based on, among other things, changes in market interest rates or changes in the issuer's creditworthiness. Because the interest rates are reset only periodically, changes in the interest rate on ARMs may lag changes in prevailing market interest rates. Also, some ARMs (or the underlying mortgages) are subject to caps or floors that limit the maximum change in the interest rate during a specified period or over the life of the security. As a result, changes in the interest rate on an ARM may not fully reflect changes in prevailing market interest rates during certain periods. The Trust may also invest in hybrid ARMs, whose underlying mortgages combine fixed-rate and adjustable rate features.

In considering an investment for the Trust in mortgage-backed securities, the Adviser will consider a number of factors with respect to the underlying mortgages. These include, but are not limited to, (1) the nature of the borrowers (e.g., residential vs. commercial); (2) the collateral loan type (e.g., for residential: First Lien—Jumbo Prime, First Lien—Alt-A, First Lien—Subprime, First Lien—Pay-Option, or Second Lien; for commercial: Conduit, Large Loan, or Single Asset/Single Borrower ("SASB")); and (3) in the case of residential loans, whether they are fixed rate or adjustable mortgages. Each of these criteria can cause mortgage-backed securities to have differing risk factors and performance characteristics.

Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities are less effective than other types of securities as a means of "locking in" attractive long-term interest rates. One reason is the need to reinvest prepayments of principal; another is the possibility of significant unscheduled prepayments resulting from declines in interest rates. These prepayments would have to be reinvested at lower rates. The automatic interest rate adjustment feature of mortgages underlying ARMs likewise reduces the ability to lock-in attractive rates. As a result, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities may have less potential for capital appreciation during periods of declining interest rates than other securities of comparable maturities, although they may have a similar risk of decline in market value during periods of rising interest rates. Prepayments may also significantly shorten the effective maturities of these securities, especially during periods of declining interest rates. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, a reduction in prepayments may increase the effective maturities of these securities, subjecting them to a greater risk of decline in market value in response to rising interest rates than traditional debt securities, and, therefore, potentially increasing the volatility of the Trust.

At times, some mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities will have higher than market interest rates and therefore will be purchased at a premium above their par value. Prepayments may cause losses on securities purchased at a premium.

CMOs may be issued by a U.S. Government agency or instrumentality or by a private issuer. Although payment of the principal of, and interest on, the underlying collateral securing privately issued CMOs may be guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities, these CMOs represent obligations solely of the private issuer and are not insured or guaranteed by the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities or any other person or entity. Government-related guarantors (i.e., not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government) include Fannie Mae (formally known as the Federal National Mortgage Association) and Freddie Mac (formally known as the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation). Fannie Mae is a government-sponsored corporation the common stock of which is owned entirely by private stockholders. Fannie Mae purchases conventional (i.e., not insured or guaranteed by any government agency) residential mortgages from a list of approved seller/servicers which include state and federally chartered savings and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks, and credit unions and mortgage bankers. Passthrough securities issued by Fannie Mae (also known as "Fannie Mae") are guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by Fannie Mae, but are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. Freddie Mac was created by Congress in 1970 for the purpose of increasing the availability of mortgage credit for residential housing. It is a government-sponsored corporation that issues Freddie Mac Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates (also known as "Freddie Macs" or "PCs"), which are pass-through securities, each representing an undivided interest in a pool of residential mortgages. Freddie Mac guarantees the timely payment of interest and ultimate collection of principal, but PCs are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. The Trust may also invest in bonds, including unguaranteed mezzanine bonds and subordinate bonds, securitized through Freddie Mac's "K-Deal" program, which securitizes mortgage loans backed by multi-family apartment properties. Such bonds are also not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government.

Prepayments could cause early retirement of CMOs. CMOs are designed to reduce the risk of prepayment for certain investors by issuing multiple classes of securities, each having different maturities, interest rates and payment schedules, and with the principal and interest on the underlying mortgages allocated among the several classes in various ways. Payment of interest or principal on some classes or series of CMOs may be subject to contingencies or some classes or series may bear some or all of the risk of default on the underlying mortgages. CMOs of different classes or series are generally retired in sequence as the underlying mortgage loans in the mortgage pool are repaid. If enough mortgages are repaid ahead of schedule, the classes or series of a CMO with the earliest maturities generally will be retired prior to their maturities. Thus, the early retirement of particular classes or series of a CMO would have the same effect as the prepayment of mortgages underlying other mortgage-backed securities. Conversely, slower than anticipated prepayments can extend the effective maturities of CMOs, subjecting them to a greater risk of decline in market value in response to rising interest rates than traditional debt securities, and, therefore, potentially increasing their volatility.

Prepayments could result in losses on stripped mortgage-backed securities. Stripped mortgage-backed securities are usually structured with two classes that receive different portions of the interest and principal distributions on a pool of mortgage loans. The yield to maturity on an IO class of stripped mortgage-backed securities is extremely sensitive not only to changes in prevailing interest rates but also to the rate of principal payments (including prepayments) on the underlying assets. A rapid rate of principal prepayments may have a

measurable adverse effect on the Trust's yield to maturity to the extent it invests in IOs. If the assets underlying the IO experience greater than anticipated prepayments of principal, the Trust may fail to recoup fully its initial investment in these securities. POs tend to increase in value if prepayments are greater than anticipated and decline if prepayments are slower than anticipated. The secondary market for stripped mortgage-backed securities may be more volatile and less liquid than that for other mortgage-backed securities, potentially limiting the Trust's ability to buy or sell those securities at any particular time.

Subprime loans, which typically are made to less creditworthy borrowers, have a higher risk of default than conventional mortgage loans or other types of loans made to more creditworthy borrowers. Therefore, the values of asset-backed securities (whether mortgage-backed securities or other types of asset-backed securities) backed by subprime loans involve greater risk of price declines due to the increased risk of default.

The mortgage loans backing the mortgage-backed securities in which the Trust may invest may include re-performing loans ("RPLs"), non-performing loans and non-qualified mortgage ("Non-QM") loans. RPLs are loans that have previously been delinquent but are current at the time they are securitized. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, among others, securitize RPLs. For example, in Fannie Mae's case, the RPLs securitized are single-family, fixed rate re-performing loans that generally were previously placed in a mortgage-backed security trust with certificates guaranteed by Fannie Mae, purchased from the trust by Fannie Mae and held as a distressed asset after four or more months of delinquency, and subsequently became current (i.e. performing) again. Such RPLs may have exited delinquency through efforts at reducing defaults (e.g., loan modification). In selecting RPLs for securitization, Fannie Mae follows certain criteria related to length of time the loan has been performing, the type of loan (single-family, fixed rate), and the status of the loan as first lien, among other things. Fannie Mae may include different loan structures and modification programs in the future. Non-performing loans are mortgage loans where the borrower is in default or is or has been delinquent, for a potentially significant period of time, as to the payment of interest and/or principal. Non-QM loans do not comply with the rules of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the "CFPB") relating to qualified mortgages ("QM"). To qualify as a QM loan under the CFPB's rules, the loan must meet certain requirements, such as a borrower debt-to-income ratio, being fully-amortizing, and limits on loan fees. Non-QM loans do not comply with at least one of these requirements.

In addition to investing in mortgage-backed securities that are backed by mortgage loans themselves, the Trust may invest in securities that are backed by mortgage servicing rights ("MSRs"), including normal MSRs and excess MSRs. Normal MSRs refer to the contractual right to cash flows payable to the mortgage servicer of a pool of mortgage loans for their ongoing administrative duties to the extent such cash flows do not exceed a reasonable amount of consideration for normal servicing activities. Excess MSRs are the rights to any amount of cash flows in excess of normal MSRs.

The Trust may pledge asset-backed securities, commercial mortgage-backed securities and collateral loan obligations that are backed by certain types of assets and are rated in the highest investment-grade rating category as collateral for non-recourse loans under the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility ("TALF"), a joint program created by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the U.S. Department of the Treasury and operated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the "New York Fed"). Under the TALF Program, the New York Fed may provide loans to the Trust to purchase certain investment-grade, asset-backed securities backed by, among other assets, automobile loans, student loans, credit card loans, Small Business Administration-guaranteed small business loans and certain commercial mortgage-backed securities ("TALF Eligible Securities"). Among other requirements, TALF Eligible Securities are limited to U.S. dollar denominated cash asset-backed securities in the highest long-term investment-grade rating (AAA) or, if no long-term rating is available, the highest short-term investment-grade rating category from two eligible NRSROs approved by the New York Fed, and do not have a credit rating below the highest investment-grade rating category from any eligible NRSRO that has been retained by the issuer to provide a credit rating. TALF Eligible Securities that are downgraded or placed on a watch list after the subscription date for a TALF Program loan will remain TALF Eligible Securities for purposes of that loan.

TALF Eligible Securities are subject to the risks associated with investment in fixed income securities, including asset-backed securities, described in this prospectus and the Statement of Additional Information and may be at greater risk than other fixed income securities held outside of the TALF Program. As with other borrowings for investment purposes, a TALF Program loan will involve the risk of leverage. If the Trust borrows under the TALF Program, then the Trust will segregate liquid assets (in addition to any assets pledged as TALF Eligible Securities) in an amount equal to the Trust's outstanding principal and any interest due and payable under the TALF Program loan.

The risks associated with other asset-backed securities (including in particular the risks of issuer default and of early prepayment) are generally similar to those described above for CMOs. In addition, because asset-backed securities generally do not have the benefit of a security interest in the underlying assets that is comparable to a mortgage (though certain asset-backed securities, such as equipment trust certificates ("ETCs") and enhanced equipment trust certificates ("EETCs"), may be structured such that there is a security interest in the underlying asset), asset-backed securities may present certain additional risks that are not commonly present with mortgage-backed securities. The ability of an issuer of asset-backed securities to enforce its security interest in the underlying assets may be limited. For example, revolving credit receivables are generally unsecured and the debtors on such receivables are entitled to the protection of a number of state and federal consumer credit laws, many of which give debtors the right to set-off certain amounts owed, thereby reducing the balance due. Automobile receivables generally are secured, but by automobiles, rather than by real property. Similarly, ETCs and EETCs are often secured by different types of equipment.

The values of asset-backed securities may also be substantially dependent on the servicing of and diligence performed by their servicers or sponsors or the originating alternative lending platforms. For example, the Trust may suffer losses due to a servicer's, sponsor's or platform's negligence or malfeasance, such as through the mishandling of certain documentation affecting security holders' rights in and to underlying collateral or the failure to update or collect accurate and complete borrower information. In addition, the values of asset-backed securities may be adversely affected by the credit quality of the servicer, sponsor or originating alternative lending platform, as applicable. Certain services, sponsor or originating alternative lending platform may result in added costs and delays in addition to losses associated with a decline in the value of underlying assets. The Trust also may experience delays in payment or losses on its investments if the full amount due on underlying collateral is not realized, which may occur because of unanticipated legal or administrative costs of enforcing the contracts, depreciation or damage to the collateral securing certain contracts, under-collateralization or other factors.

Federal, state and local government officials and representatives as well as certain private parties have proposed actions to assist homeowners who own or occupy property subject to mortgages. Certain of those proposals involve actions that would affect the mortgages that underlie or relate to certain mortgage-related securities, including securities or other instruments which the Trust may hold or in which it may invest. Some of those proposals include, among other things, lowering or forgiving principal balances; forbearing, lowering or eliminating interest payments; or utilizing eminent domain powers to seize mortgages, potentially for below market compensation. The prospective or actual implementation of one or more of these proposals may significantly and adversely affect the value and liquidity of securities held by the Trust and could cause the Trust's NAV to decline, potentially significantly. Uncertainty remains in the market concerning the resolution of these issues; the range of proposals and the potential implications of any implemented solution are impossible to predict.

The Trust may invest in any level of the capital structure of an issuer of mortgage-backed or asset-backed securities, including the equity or "first loss" tranche. Consistent with the Trust's investment objective and policies, the Adviser may also cause the Trust to invest in other types of mortgage- and asset-backed securities offered currently or in the future, including certain yet-to-be-developed types of mortgage- and asset-backed securities which may be created as the market evolves.

Collateralized Debt Obligation. A collateralized debt obligation ("CDO") is an asset-backed security whose underlying collateral is typically a portfolio of bonds, bank loans, other structured finance securities and/or synthetic instruments. Where the underlying collateral is a portfolio of bonds, a CDO is referred to as a collateralized bond obligation ("CBO"). Where the underlying collateral is a portfolio of bank loans, a CDO is referred to as a collateralized loan obligation ("CBO"). Investors in CLOs bear the credit risk of the underlying collateral. Multiple tranches of securities are issued by the CLO, offering investors various maturity and credit risk characteristics. Tranches are categorized as senior, mezzanine, and subordinated/equity, according to their degree of risk. If there are defaults or the CLO's collateral otherwise underperforms, scheduled payments to senior tranches take precedence over those of mezzanine tranches, and scheduled payments to mezzanine tranches take precedence over those to subordinated/equity tranches. This prioritization of the cash flows from a pool of securities among the several tranches of the CLO is a key feature of the CLO structure. If there are funds remaining after each tranche of debt receives its contractual interest rate and the CLO meets or exceeds required collateral coverage levels (or other similar covenants), the remaining funds may be paid to the subordinated (or residual) tranche (often referred to as the "equity" tranche). CLOs are subject to the same risk of prepayment described with respect to certain mortgage-related and asset-backed securities.

The Trust may invest in senior, rated tranches as well as mezzanine and subordinated tranches of CLOs. Investment in the subordinated tranche is subject to special risks. The subordinated tranche does not receive ratings and is considered the riskiest portion of the capital structure of a CLO because it bears the bulk of defaults from the loans in the CLO and serves to protect the other, more senior tranches from default in all but the most severe circumstances.

Normally, CBOs, CLOs and other CDOs are privately offered and sold, and thus are not registered under the securities laws. As a result, there may be a limited secondary market for investments in CDOs and such investments may be illiquid.

Sovereign Debt Obligations. The Trust may invest in sovereign debt, including of emerging market countries. Investors should be aware that certain sovereign debt instruments in which the Trust may invest may involve great risk and may be deemed to be the equivalent in terms of credit quality to securities rated below investment grade by Moody's, S&P, or Fitch.

Sovereign debt may be issued by foreign developed and emerging market governments and their respective sub-divisions, agencies or instrumentalities, government-sponsored enterprises and supra-national government entities. Supra-national entities include international organizations that are organized or supported by one or more government entities to promote economic reconstruction or development and by international banking institutions and related governmental agencies. Investment in sovereign debt can involve a high degree of risk. The governmental entity that controls the repayment of sovereign debt may not be able or willing to repay the principal and/or interest when due in accordance with the terms of the debt. A governmental entity's willingness or ability to repay principal and interest due in a timely manner may be affected by, among other factors, its cash flow situation, the extent of its foreign currency reserves or its inability to sufficiently manage fluctuations in relative currency valuations, the availability of sufficient foreign exchange on the date a payment is due, the relative size of the debt service burden to the economy as a whole, the governmental entity's policy toward principal international lenders such as the International Monetary Fund, and the political and social constraints to which a governmental entity may be subject. Governmental entities also may depend on expected disbursements from foreign governments, multilateral agencies and others to reduce principal and interest arrearages on their debt. The commitment on the part of these governments, agencies and others to make such disbursements may be conditioned on a governmental entity's implementation of economic reforms and/or economic performance and the timely service of such debtor's obligations. Failure to implement such reforms, achieve such levels of economic performance or repay principal or interest when due may result in the cancellation of such third parties' commitments to lend funds to the governmental entity, which may further impair such debtor's ability or willingness to service its debts in a timely manner. Consequently, governmental entities may decide to default on their sovereign debt in whole or in part. There is no bankruptcy proceeding through which holders of sovereign debt (including the Trust) may attempt to collect all or a portion of their investment upon a default, which could result in significant losses to the Trust.

The Trust may invest in Brady Bonds, sovereign debt securities created through the exchange of existing commercial bank loans to sovereign entities for new obligations in connection with debt restructurings under a debt restructuring plan. Brady Bonds may be collateralized or uncollateralized, are issued in various currencies (primarily the U.S. dollar) and are actively traded in the over-the-counter secondary market. Investments in Brady Bonds involve various risks associated with investing in sovereign debt securities and may be subject to restructuring arrangements or to requests for new credit, which may cause the Trust to lose interest or principal on holdings consisting of Brady Bonds.

The Trust's investments in foreign currency denominated debt obligations and hedging activities will likely produce a difference between its book income and its taxable income. This difference may cause a portion of the Trust's income distributions to constitute returns of capital for tax purposes or require the Trust to make distributions exceeding book income to qualify as a RIC for federal tax purposes.

Some of the countries in which the Trust may invest have encountered difficulties in servicing their sovereign debt. Some of these countries have withheld payments of interest and/or principal of sovereign debt. These difficulties have also led to agreements to restructure external debt obligations; in particular, commercial bank loans, typically by rescheduling principal payments, reducing interest rates and extending new credits to finance interest payments on existing debt. Unlike most corporate debt restructurings, the fees and expenses of financial and legal advisers to the creditors in connection with a restructuring may be borne by the holders of the sovereign debt securities instead of the sovereign entity itself. Some sovereign debtors have in the past been able to restructure their debt payments without the approval of some or all debt holders or to declare moratoria on payments, and similar occurrences may happen in the future where holders of sovereign debt may be requested to participate in similar rescheduling of such debt.

The ability or willingness of foreign governments to make timely payments on their sovereign debt is likely to be influenced strongly by a country's balance of trade and its access to trade and other international credits. A country whose exports are concentrated in a few commodities could be vulnerable to a decline in the international prices of one or more of such commodities. Increased protectionism on the part of a country's trading partners could also adversely affect its exports. Such events could extinguish a country's trade account surplus, if any. To the extent that a country receives payment for its exports in currencies other than hard currencies, its ability to make hard currency payments could be affected.

The occurrence of political, social, economic and diplomatic changes in one or more of the countries issuing sovereign debt could adversely affect the Trust's investments. The countries issuing such instruments may be faced with social and political issues and some of them have experienced high rates of inflation and have extensive internal debt. Among other effects, high inflation and internal debt service requirements may

adversely affect the cost and availability of future domestic sovereign borrowing to finance governmental programs, and may have other adverse social, political and economic consequences. Political changes or a deterioration of a country's domestic economy or balance of trade may affect the willingness of countries to service their sovereign debt. There can be no assurance that adverse political changes will not cause the Trust to suffer a loss of interest or principal on any of its holdings.

As a result of all of the foregoing, a government obligor may default on its obligations and/or the values of its obligations may decline significantly. If an event of default occurs, the Trust may have limited legal recourse against the issuer and/or guarantor. Remedies must, in some cases, be pursued in the courts of the defaulting party itself, and the ability of the holder of foreign government debt securities to obtain recourse may be subject to the political climate in the relevant country. Bankruptcy, moratorium and other similar laws designed to protect and enforce the rights of creditors may not apply to issuers of sovereign debt obligations in many jurisdictions, may be substantially different from those applicable to issuers of private debt obligations, and/or may be ineffective in enforcing the Trust's rights or effecting a recovery on the Trust's investment. In addition, no assurance can be given that the holders of commercial bank debt will not contest payments to the holders of other foreign government debt obligations in the event of default under their commercial bank loan agreements. Periods of economic uncertainty may result in the volatility of market prices of sovereign debt will likely vary inversely with changes in prevailing interest rates, which are subject to considerable variance in the international market.

Foreign Currencies and Related Transactions. The Trust's Common Shares are priced in U.S. dollars and the distributions paid by the Trust to Common Shareholders are paid in U.S. dollars. The Trust may take positions in various foreign (non-U.S.) currencies, including by actual holdings of those currencies and through forward, futures, swap, and option contracts with respect to foreign currencies, for hedging, or as a substitute for actual purchases or sales of the currencies in question; the Trust may also invest without limit in investments denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including the local currencies of emerging markets. The Trust's investments in securities that trade in, or receive revenues in, foreign currencies will be subject to currency risk, which is the risk that fluctuations in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may negatively affect any investment. The Trust may (but is not required to) hedge some or all of its exposure to foreign currencies through the use of derivative strategies. For instance, the Trust may enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts, and may buy and sell foreign currency futures contracts and options on foreign currencies and foreign currency futures. A forward foreign currency exchange contract, which involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency at a future date at a price set at the time of the contract, may reduce the Trust's exposure to changes in the value of the currency it will deliver and increase its exposure to changes in the value of the currency it will receive for the duration of the contract. The effect on the value of the Trust is similar to selling securities denominated in one currency and purchasing securities denominated in another currency. Contracts to sell foreign currency would limit any potential gain which might be realized by the Trust if the value of the hedged currency increases. The Trust may enter into these contracts to hedge against foreign exchange risk arising from the Trust's investment or anticipated investment in securities denominated in foreign currencies. Suitable hedging transactions may not be available in all circumstances and there can be no assurance that the Trust will engage in such transactions at any given time or from time to time when they would be beneficial.

The Trust also may use derivatives contracts for purposes of increasing exposure to a foreign currency or to shift exposure to foreign currency fluctuations from one currency to another. To the extent that it does so, the Trust will be subject to the additional risk that the relative value of currencies will be different than anticipated by the Adviser.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Dollar Rolls. Reverse repurchase agreements involve sales by the Trust of portfolio securities concurrently with an agreement by the Trust to repurchase the same securities at a later date at a fixed price. Reverse repurchase agreements are speculative techniques involving leverage. Reverse repurchase agreements involve the risk that the market value of the securities the Trust is obligated to repurchase under the agreement may decline below the repurchase price. Reverse repurchase agreements involve the risk that the buyer of the securities sold might be unable to deliver them when the Trust seeks to repurchase the securities. If the buyer files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, the Trust may be delayed or prevented from recovering the security that it sold.

The Trust may enter into mortgage dollar rolls with a bank or a broker-dealer. A mortgage dollar roll is a transaction in which the Trust sells mortgage-related securities for immediate settlement and simultaneously purchases substantially similar securities for forward settlement at a discount. While the Trust begins accruing interest on the newly purchased securities from the purchase or trade date, it is able to invest the proceeds from the sale of its previously owned securities, which will be used to pay for the new securities. The use of mortgage dollar rolls is a speculative technique involving leverage, and can have an economic effect similar to borrowing money for investment purposes.

Currency Forward and Futures Contracts. A forward foreign currency exchange contract involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency at a future date, which may be any fixed number of days from the date of the contract as agreed by the parties, at a price set at the time of the contract. In the case of a cancelable forward contract, the holder has the unilateral right to cancel the contract at maturity by paying a specified fee. The contracts are traded in the interbank market conducted directly between currency traders (usually large commercial banks) and their customers. A forward contract generally has no deposit requirement, and no commissions are charged at any stage for trades. A foreign currency futures contract is a standardized contract for the future delivery of a specified amount of a foreign currency at a future date at a price set at the time of the contract. Foreign currency futures contracts traded in the United States are designed by and traded on exchanges regulated by the CFTC, such as the New York Mercantile Exchange.

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts differ from foreign currency futures contracts in certain respects. For example, the maturity date of a forward contract may be any fixed number of days from the date of the contract agreed upon by the parties, rather than a predetermined date in a given month. Forward contracts may be in any amounts agreed upon by the parties rather than predetermined amounts. Also, forward foreign exchange contracts are traded directly between currency traders so that no intermediary is required. A forward contract generally requires no margin or other deposit.

At the maturity of a forward or futures contract, the Trust may either accept or make delivery of the currency specified in the contract, or at or prior to maturity enter into a closing transaction involving the purchase or sale of an offsetting contract. Closing transactions with respect to forward contracts are usually effected with the currency trader who is a party to the original forward contract. Closing transactions with respect to futures contracts are effected on a commodities exchange or board of trade; a clearing corporation associated with the exchange assumes responsibility for closing out such contracts.

Positions in foreign currency futures contracts and related options may be closed out only on an exchange or board of trade which provides a secondary market in such contracts or options. Although the Trust will normally purchase or sell foreign currency futures contracts and related options only on exchanges or boards of trade where there appears to be an active secondary market, there is no assurance that a secondary market on an exchange or board of trade will exist for any particular contract or option or at any particular time. In such event, it may not be possible to close a futures or related option position and, in the event of adverse price movements, the Trust would continue to be required to make daily cash payments of variation margin on its futures positions.

Credit Default Swaps. A credit default swap is an agreement between the Trust and a counterparty that enables the Trust to buy or sell protection against a credit event related to a particular issuer. One party, acting as a protection buyer, makes periodic payments, which may be based on, among other things, a fixed or floating rate of interest, to the other party, a protection seller, in exchange for a promise by the protection seller to make a payment to the protection buyer if a negative credit event (such as a delinquent payment or default) occurs with respect to a referenced bond or group of bonds. Credit default swaps may also be structured based on the debt of a basket of issuers, rather than a single issuer, and may be customized with respect to the default event that triggers purchase or other factors (for example, the Nth default within a basket, or defaults by a particular combination of issuers within the basket, may trigger a payment obligation). As a credit protection seller in a credit default swap contract, the Trust would be required to pay the par (or other agreed-upon) value of a referenced debt obligation to the counterparty following certain negative credit events as to a specified third-party debtor, such as default by a U.S. or non-U.S. corporate issuer on its debt obligations. In return for its obligation, the Trust would receive from the counterparty a periodic stream of payments, which may be based on, among other things, a fixed or floating rate of interest, over the term of the contract provided that no event of default has occurred. If no default occurs, the Trust would keep the stream of payments, and would have no payment obligations to the counterparty. The Trust may sell credit protection in order to earn additional income and/or to take a synthetic long position in the underlying security or basket of securities.

Certain Interest Rate Transactions. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange by the Trust with a counterparty of their respective commitments to pay or receive interest, such as an exchange of fixed-rate payments for floating-rate payments. These transactions generally involve the Trust's agreement with the swap counterparty to pay a fixed rate payment in exchange for the counterparty paying the Trust a variable rate payment that is intended to approximate a variable rate payment obligation of the Trust (for example, a variable rate payment obligation on any preferred shares issued by the Trust). The payment obligation would be based on the notional amount of the swap. Other forms of interest rate swap agreements in which the Trust may invest include interest rate caps, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to the other to the extent that interest rates exceed a specified rate, or "cap"; interest rate floors, under which, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments exceeding given minimum or maximum levels. The Trust may use interest rate swap transactions with the intent to reduce or eliminate the risk that an increase in short-term interest rates could pose for the performance of the Common Shares as a result of leverage, and also may use these instruments for other hedging or investment purposes. Any termination of an interest rate swap transaction could result in a termination payment by or to the Trust.

Repurchase Agreements. The Trust may enter into repurchase agreements, which may be viewed as a type of secured lending by the Trust, typically involving the acquisition by the Trust of debt securities from a selling financial institution such as a bank, savings and loan association or broker-dealer. The repurchase agreements will provide that the Trust will sell back to the institution, and that the institution will repurchase, the underlying security ("collateral") at a specified price and at a fixed time in the future, often not more than seven days from the date of purchase. The collateral will be maintained in a segregated account and, with respect to United States repurchase agreements, will be marked to market daily to ensure that the full value of the collateral, as specified in the repurchase agreement, does not decrease below the repurchase price plus accrued interest. If such a decrease occurs, additional collateral will be requested and, when received, added to the account to maintain full collateralization. The Trust will accrue interest from the institution until the date the repurchase occurs. Although this date is deemed by the Trust to be the maturity date of a repurchase agreement, the maturities of the collateral securities are not subject to any limits and may exceed one year.

Lending of Portfolio Securities. The Trust may make secured loans of its portfolio securities, on either a short-term or long-term basis, amounting to not more than 33¹/₃% of its total assets, thereby potentially realizing additional income. The risks in lending portfolio securities, as with other extensions of credit, consist of possible delay in recovery of the securities or possible loss of rights in the collateral should the borrower fail financially. If a borrower defaults, the value of the collateral may decline before the Trust can dispose of it. As a matter of policy, securities loans are made to broker-dealers pursuant to agreements requiring that the loans be continuously secured by collateral consisting of cash or short-term debt obligations at least equal at all times to the value of the securities on loan, marked-to-market daily. The borrower pays to the Trust an amount equal to any dividends or interest received on securities lent. The Trust retains all or a portion of the interest received on investment of the cash collateral or receives a fee from the borrower. The Trust bears the risk of any loss on the investment of the collateral; any such loss may exceed, potentially by a substantial amount, any profit to the Trust from its securities lending activities. Although voting rights, or rights to consent, with respect to the loaned securities may pass to the borrower, the Trust retains the right to call the loans at any time on reasonable notice, and it will do so to enable the Trust to exercise voting rights on any matters materially affecting the investment. The Trust may also call such loans in order to sell the securities.

U.S. Government Securities. U.S. government securities in which the Trust invests include debt obligations of varying maturities issued by the U.S. Treasury or issued or guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the U.S. government, including the Federal Housing Administration, Federal Financing Bank, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank of the United States, Small Business Administration, Government National Mortgage Association, General Services Administration, Central Bank for Cooperatives, Federal Farm Credit Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA"), Maritime Administration, Tennessee Valley Authority, District of

Columbia Armory Board, Student Loan Marketing Association, Resolution Fund Corporation and various institutions that previously were or currently are part of the Farm Credit System (which has been undergoing reorganization since 1987). Some U.S. government securities, such as U.S. Treasury bills, Treasury notes and Treasury bonds, which differ only in their interest rates, maturities and times of issuance, are supported by the full faith and credit of the United States. Others are supported by: (i) the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury, such as securities of the Federal Home Loan Banks; (ii) the discretionary authority of the U.S. government to purchase the agency's obligations, such as securities of the FNMA; or (iii) only the credit of the issuer. No assurance can be given that the U.S. government will provide financial support in the future to U.S. government agencies, authorities or instrumentalities that are not supported by the full faith and credit of the United States. Securities guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. government, its agencies, authorities or instrumentalities include: (i) securities for which the payment of principal and interest is backed by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by the U.S. government or any of its agencies, authorities or instrumentalities; and (ii) participations in loans made to non-U.S. governments or other entities that are so guaranteed. The secondary market for certain of these participations is limited and, therefore, may be regarded as illiquid.

Like other debt securities, U.S. Government securities are subject to interest rate risk and credit risk. The U.S. Government does not guarantee the NAV or market value of the Trust's Common Shares. Concerns regarding the U.S. Government's ability to borrow money or otherwise finance its obligations, including as a result of legislatively-imposed limits on the amount of money it may borrow, could cause the values of U.S. Government securities, including those of the U.S. Government's agencies and instrumentalities and other government-sponsored enterprises, to decline.

The events surrounding the U.S. federal government debt ceiling and any resulting agreement could adversely affect the Trust's ability to achieve its investment objective. For example, a downgrade of the long-term sovereign credit rating of the U.S. could increase volatility in both stock and bond markets, result in higher interest rates and lower Treasury prices and increase the costs of all kinds of debt. These events and similar events in other areas of the world could have significant adverse effects on the economy generally and could result in significant adverse impacts on issuers of securities held by the Trust and the Trust itself. In the past, the values of U.S. Government securities have been affected substantially by increased demand for them around the world. Changes in the demand for U.S. Government securities may occur at any time and may result in increased volatility in the values of those securities.

Temporary Investments and Defensive Position. During the period where the net proceeds of this offering of Common Shares are being invested or during periods in which the Adviser determines that it is temporarily unable to follow the Trust's investment strategy or that it is impractical to do so, the Trust may deviate from its investment strategy and invest all or any portion of its net assets in cash, cash equivalents or other securities. The Adviser's determination that it is temporarily unable to follow the Trust's investment strategy or that it is impracticable to do so generally will occur only in situations in which a market disruption event has occurred and where trading in the securities selected through application of the Trust's investment strategy is extremely limited or absent. In such a case, the Trust may not pursue or achieve its investment objective.

Cash and cash equivalents are defined to include, without limitation, the following:

(1) U.S. Government securities, including bills, notes and bonds differing as to maturity and rates of interest that are either issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Treasury or by U.S. Government agencies or instrumentalities. U.S. Government agency securities include securities issued by: (a) the Federal Housing Administration, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank of the United States, Small Business Administration, and the Government National Mortgage Association, whose securities are supported by the full faith and credit of the United States; (b) the Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, and the Tennessee Valley Authority, whose securities are supported by the right of the agency to borrow from the U.S. Treasury; (c) the Federal National Mortgage Association; and (d) the Student Loan Marketing Association. While the U.S. Government typically provides financial support to such U.S. Government-sponsored agencies or instrumentalities, no assurance can be given that it always will do so since it is not so obligated by law. The U.S. Government, its agencies, and instrumentalities do not guarantee the market value of their securities. Consequently, the value of such securities may fluctuate.

(2) Certificates of deposit issued against funds deposited in a bank or a savings and loan association. Such certificates are for a definite period of time, earn a specified rate of return, and are normally negotiable. The issuer of a certificate of deposit agrees to pay the amount deposited plus interest to the bearer of the certificate on the date specified thereon. Under current Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") regulations, the maximum insurance payable as to any one certificate of deposit is \$250,000, therefore, certificates of deposit purchased by the Trust may not be fully insured.

(3) Repurchase agreements, which involve purchases of debt securities. At the time the Trust purchases securities pursuant to a repurchase agreement, it simultaneously agrees to resell and redeliver such securities to the seller, who also simultaneously agrees to buy back the securities at a fixed price and time. This assures a predetermined yield for the Trust during its holding period, since the resale price is always greater than the purchase price and reflects an agreed-upon market rate. Such actions afford an opportunity for the Trust to invest temporarily available cash. Pursuant to the Trust's policies and procedures, the Trust may enter into repurchase agreements only with respect to obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities; certificates of deposit; or bankers' acceptances in which the Trust may invest. Repurchase agreements may be considered loans to the seller, collateralized by the underlying securities. The risk to the Trust is limited to the ability of the seller to pay the agreed-upon sum on the repurchase date; in the event of default, the repurchase agreement provides that the Trust is entitled to sell the underlying collateral. If the seller defaults under a repurchase agreement when the value of the underlying collateral is less than the repurchase price, the Trust could incur a loss of both principal and interest. The Adviser monitors the value of the collateral at the time the action is entered into and at all times during the term of the repurchase agreement. The Adviser does so in an effort to determine that the value of the collateral always equals or exceeds the agreed-upon repurchase price to be paid to the Trust. If the seller were to be subject to a federal bankruptcy proceeding, the ability of the Trust to liquidate the collateral could be delayed or impaired because of certain provisions of the bankruptcy laws.

(4) Commercial paper, which consists of short-term unsecured promissory notes, including variable rate master demand notes issued by corporations to finance their current operations. Master demand notes are direct lending arrangements between the Trust and a corporation. There is no secondary market for such notes. However, they are redeemable by the Trust at any time. The Adviser will consider the financial condition of the corporation (*e.g.*, earning power, cash flow, and other liquidity measures) and will continuously monitor the corporation's ability to meet all its financial obligations, because the Trust's liquidity might be impaired if the corporation were unable to pay principal and interest on demand. Investments in commercial paper will be limited to commercial paper rated in the highest categories by a NRSRO and which mature within one year of the date of purchase or carry a variable or floating rate of interest.

(5) The Trust may invest in bankers' acceptances which are short-term credit instruments used to finance commercial transactions. Generally, an acceptance is a time draft drawn on a bank by an exporter or an importer to obtain a stated amount of funds to pay for specific merchandise. The draft is then "accepted" by a bank that, in effect, unconditionally guarantees to pay the face value of the instrument on its maturity date. The acceptance may then be held by the accepting bank as an asset or it may be sold in the secondary market at the going rate of interest for a specific maturity.

(6) The Trust may invest in bank time deposits, which are monies kept on deposit with banks or savings and loan associations for a stated period of time at a fixed rate of interest. There may be penalties for the early withdrawal of such time deposits, in which case the yields of these investments will be reduced.

(7) The Trust may invest in shares of money market funds in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act.

Additional Risks of Investing in the Trust

Deflation Risk. Deflation risk is the risk that prices throughout the economy decline over time, which may have an adverse effect on the market valuation of companies, their assets and revenues. In addition, deflation may have an adverse effect on the creditworthiness of issuers and may make issuer default more likely, which may result in a decline in the value of the Trust's portfolio.

Inflation Risk. Inflation risk is the risk that the value of assets or income from investments will be worth less in the future as inflation decreases the value of money. As inflation increases, the real value of the Common Shares and distributions can decline.

Reinvestment Risk. Reinvestment risk is the risk that income from the Trust's portfolio will decline if and when the Trust invests the proceeds from matured, traded or called bonds at market interest rates that are below the portfolio's current earnings rate. A decline in income could affect the Common Shares' market price or their overall returns.

MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST

Investment Adviser

Thornburg Investment Management, Inc. ("Thornburg" or the "Adviser") is a registered investment adviser and an independent, privately-held global investment management firm located at 2300 North Ridgetop Road, Santa Fe, New Mexico that helps investors of all types realize their investment objectives and achieve their financial goals. Thornburg manages active, fundamental investment strategies that seek to capitalize on market inefficiencies, outperform passive portfolios, and adapt to a changing world, markets, and economies and offers a comprehensive set of investment solutions in equity, fixed income, multi-asset and alternative strategies across the global capital markets. Thornburg clients include investment advisors, family offices, private and public defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans, foundations & endowments, corporations, and insurers. Thornburg Investment Management Ltd., the Adviser's London-based client service organization, and Thornburg Investment Management (Asia) Ltd. serve the firm's global set of diverse clients. As of April 30, 2021, Thornburg managed approximately \$46.2 billion across mutual funds, separate accounts, institutional pooled funds, and UCITS funds.

Founded in June 1982 by Garrett Thornburg with a vision to be a trusted partner for clients and a respected leader in global asset management, Thornburg seeks to provide differentiated returns through a benchmark agnostic, collaborative team approach. Collaboration is a key element of Thornburg's investment approach as active managers to capitalize on market dynamics. Thornburg's investment philosophy is rooted in the belief that valuation inefficiencies exist within markets because security analysis is often structured around benchmark indices and conducted in sector, regional and asset class research silos across the asset management industry. This segmentation creates isolated viewpoints, which fall short of fully understanding a security's valuation in a broader context. Thornburg's benchmark agnostic, collaborative investment approach takes advantage of these market inefficiencies by conducting analysis across sectors, regions, and asset classes to discover opportunities for clients. Furthermore, potential opportunities are simultaneously viewed through the portfolio construction framework that considers risk from multiple angles.

Thornburg is independently owned and has been since the firm's inception, creating internal alignment and a strong fiduciary focus on behalf of clients. Portfolio manager interests are further aligned through significant employee investment in the company and its investment solutions. By creating internal and external alignment, Thornburg keeps clients at the center of its business and investment strategies. Thornburg's Santa Fe location keeps the firm away from the groupthink of Wall Street, which allows it to have a differentiated, long-term view and a broader look across the financial landscape.

Investment Advisory Agreement

For its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Trust pays the Adviser a monthly management fee computed at the annual rate of 1.25% of the average daily Managed Assets. "Managed Assets" means the total assets of the Trust, including assets attributable to leverage, minus liabilities (other than debt representing leverage and any preferred stock that may be outstanding). In addition to the monthly advisory fee, the Trust pays all other costs and expenses of its operations, including, but not limited to, compensation of its trustees (other than those affiliated with the Adviser, who are not compensated by the Trust), custodial expenses, transfer agency and dividend disbursing expenses, legal fees, expenses of independent auditors, expenses of repurchasing shares, expenses of any leverage, expenses of preparing, printing and distributing prospectuses, shareholder reports, notices, proxy statements and reports to governmental agencies, and taxes, if any.

If the Trust determines to use leverage, the fees paid to the Adviser for investment management services will be higher than if the Trust did not use leverage because the fees paid will be calculated based on Managed Assets, which would include assets attributable to leverage. Because the fees paid to the Adviser are determined on the basis of Managed Assets, this creates a conflict of interest for the Adviser. The Board monitors the Trust's use of leverage and in doing so monitors this potential conflict.

The Investment Advisory Agreement provides that the Adviser shall not be liable for any act or omission connected with or arising out of any services to be rendered under such agreement, except by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence on the part of the Adviser in the performance of its duties or from reckless disregard by the Adviser of its obligations and duties under such agreement.

The Adviser will make available, without additional expense to the Trust, the services of such of its officers, trustees and employees as may be duly elected as officers or trustees of the Trust, subject to the individual consent of such persons to serve and to any limitations imposed by law. The Adviser will pay all expenses incurred in performing its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement, including compensation of and office space for trustees, officers and employees of the Adviser connected with management of the Trust. The Trust will be required to pay brokerage and other expenses of executing the Trust's portfolio transactions; taxes or governmental fees; interest charges and other costs of borrowing funds; litigation and indemnification expenses and other extraordinary expenses not incurred in the ordinary course of the Trust's business.

The Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect for an initial term ending two years from the effective date of the agreement (unless sooner terminated). The Investment Advisory Agreement shall remain in effect from year to year thereafter if approved annually (i) by a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Trust or by a vote of the Trust's Board, cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval, and (ii) by vote of a majority of the Board who is not party to the Investment Advisory Agreement, or "interested persons" of any party to the Investment Advisory Agreement, cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval. Information regarding the Board's approval of the Investment Advisory Agreement will be available in the Trust's annual report to Common Shareholders for the period ended September 30, 2021. The Investment Advisory Agreement will terminate upon assignment by any party and is terminable, without penalty, on 60 days' written notice by the Board or by vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Trust or upon 60 days' written notice by the Adviser.

Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement

The Adviser has entered into an "Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement" with the Trust for a two-year term beginning on the date of commencement of operations of the Trust and ending on the two year anniversary thereof (the "Limitation Period") to limit the amount of "Total Annual Expenses", excluding leverage expenses (which include, without limitation, costs associated with the issuance or incurrence of leverage, commitment fees, interest expense or dividends on preferred shares), borne by the Trust to an amount not to exceed 1.65% per annum of the Trust's net assets (the "Expense Cap"). To the extent that "Total Annual Expenses" for a month exceed the Expense Cap, the Adviser will reimburse the Trust for expenses to the extent necessary to eliminate such excess.

Portfolio Managers

The portfolio managers of the Trust are supported by a 48-person team of Thornburg analysts and financial professionals that have worked together for many years and through multiple economic cycles. The individuals listed below are jointly and primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the Trust. The portfolio managers of the Trust are:

Ben Kirby, CFA is co-head of investments for Thornburg. He is responsible for driving the investment process at the firm level. Mr. Kirby is also a portfolio manager on multiple strategies, including Thornburg's Investment Income Builder mutual fund and Developing World mutual fund. He joined Thornburg in 2008 as equity research analyst, was promoted to associate portfolio manager in 2011, and was named portfolio manager and managing director in 2013. Mr. Kirby holds a B.A. in computer science from Fort Lewis College and an MBA from Duke University's Fuqua School of Business. Prior to graduate school, Mr. Kirby was a software engineer at Pinnacle Business Systems in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. He is a CFA charterholder.
Matt Burdett is portfolio manager and managing director for Thornburg. He rejoined the firm in 2015 as an associate portfolio manager and was promoted to portfolio manager in 2018, where he manages the Thornburg Investment Income Builder mutual fund with Mr. Kirby. Mr. Burdett spent several years as a senior vice president and portfolio manager at PIMCO, where he co-managed various dividend-oriented strategies. Prior to his time at PIMCO, Mr. Burdett worked as an equity analyst at Thornburg in 2010. Mr. Burdett was director of healthcare investment banking at CIBC World Markets / Oppenheimer prior to joining Thornburg in 2010. Earlier in his career, he was a medical chemist at Sunesis Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Burdett holds an MBA from the Marshall School of Business at the University of Southern California and a bachelor's degree in chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley.

Christian Hoffmann, CFA is a portfolio manager for Thornburg. He joined the firm in 2012 as a fixed income securities analyst and was promoted to associate portfolio manager in 2014, then portfolio manager in 2018, where he manages the Thornburg Strategic Income mutual fund. Prior to joining Thornburg, he served as a senior credit analyst with H.I.G. Capital in Miami, Florida, where he specialized in distressed debt investments and credit driven special situations. Mr. Hoffmann began his career in the investment banking division of Lehman Brothers and later spent several years working on the high yield research desk at Lehman Brothers. Mr. Hoffmann graduated cum laude from New York University with a B.A. in economics. He is a CFA charterholder.

Compensation of Portfolio Managers

Thornburg Investment Management, Inc.

Mr. Kirby's, Mr. Burdett's and Mr. Hoffmann's total compensation package includes an annual base salary, annual discretionary bonus, annual discretionary deferred compensation award and company-wide profit sharing. Each portfolio manager currently named in the Prospectus also owns equity shares in the Adviser. The base salary, discretionary bonus, and annual discretionary deferred compensation component are reviewed approximately annually for comparability with salaries of other portfolio managers in the industry, using benchmarking survey data obtained from compensation consultants. The discretionary annual bonus is subjective. Criteria that are considered in formulating the bonus include, but are not limited to, the following revenues available to pay compensation of the manager and all other expenses related to supporting the accounts managed by the portfolio manager, including the Trust; multiple year historical total return of accounts managed by the portfolio manager, including the Trust, relative to market performance and similar investment companies; single year historical total return of accounts managed by the manager to potential tax liabilities created for account holders in generating returns, relative to overall return. There is no material difference in the method used to calculate the manager's compensation with respect to the Trust and other accounts managed by the manager, except that certain accounts managed by the manager may have no income or capital gains tax considerations.

Portfolio Manager Ownership of Trust Shares

As of the date of the SAI, none of the portfolio managers beneficially owns any equity securities of the Trust.

Conflicts of Interest

Actual or apparent conflicts of interest may arise when a portfolio manager has day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to more than one fund or other accounts. More specifically, portfolio managers who manage multiple funds are presented with the following potential conflicts, among others:

The management of multiple accounts may result in a portfolio manager devoting unequal time and attention to the management of each account. The management of multiple funds and accounts also may give rise to potential conflicts of interest if the funds and accounts have different objectives, benchmarks, time horizons and fees as the portfolio manager must allocate his time and investment ideas across multiple funds and accounts. Another potential conflict of interest may arise where another account has the same or similar investment objective as the Trust, whereby the portfolio manager could favor one account over another. With respect to securities transactions for the Trust, the Adviser determines which broker to use to execute each order, consistent with the duty to seek best execution of the transaction. A portfolio manager may execute transactions for another fund or account that may adversely impact the value of securities held by the Trust. Securities selected for funds or accounts other than the Trust may outperform the securities selected for the Trust. Further, a potential conflict could include a portfolio manager's knowledge about the size, timing and possible market impact of Trust trades, whereby they could use this information to the advantage of other accounts and to the disadvantage of the Trust. These potential conflicts of interest could create the appearance that a portfolio manager is favoring one investment vehicle over another.

The management of personal accounts also may give rise to potential conflicts of interest. Although a portfolio manager generally does not trade securities in his or her own personal account, the Adviser and the Trust have each adopted a code of ethics that, among other things, permits personal trading by employees (including trading in securities that can be purchased, sold or held by the Trust) under conditions where it has been determined that such trades would not adversely impact client accounts. Nevertheless, the management of personal accounts may give rise to potential conflicts of interest, and there is no assurance that these codes of ethics will adequately address such conflicts.

Conflicts potentially limiting the Trust's investment opportunities may also arise when the Trust and other clients of the Adviser invest in, or even conduct research relating to, different parts of an issuer's capital structure, such as when the Trust owns senior debt obligations of an issuer and other clients own junior tranches of the same issuer. In such circumstances, decisions over whether to trigger an event of default, over the terms of any workout, or how to exit an investment may result in conflicts of interest. In order to minimize such conflicts, a portfolio manager may avoid certain investment opportunities that would potentially give rise to conflicts with other clients of the Adviser or result in the Adviser receiving material, non-public information, or the Adviser may enact internal procedures designed to minimize such conflicts, which could have the effect of limiting the Trust's investment opportunities. Additionally, if the Adviser acquires material non-public confidential information in connection with its business activities for other clients, a portfolio manager or other investment personnel may be restricted from purchasing securities or selling certain securities for the Trust or other clients. When making investment decisions where a conflict of interest may arise, the Adviser will endeavor to act in a fair and equitable manner between the Trust and other clients; however, in certain instances the resolution of the conflict may result in the Adviser acting on behalf of another client in a manner that may not be in the best interest, or may be opposed to the best interest, of the Trust.

The Adviser has adopted certain compliance procedures which are designed to address these types of conflicts. However, there is no guarantee that such procedures will detect each and every situation in which a conflict arises.

The other investment companies in which the Trust invests will not include those that are advised by the Adviser or its affiliates.

Other Accounts Managed

As of April 30, 2021, the portfolio managers of the Trust were responsible for the management of the following other accounts (in addition to the Trust):

Number of Other Accounts Managed and Assets by Account Type As of April 30, 2021							
		Registered					
	Registered	Investment Companies		Other Pooled Investment		Other Accounts	
	Investment	Subject to		Vehicles Subject		Subject to	
	Companies	Performance-	Other Pooled	to Performance-	01	Performance-	
Portfolio Manager	(other than the Trust)	Based Advisory Fees	Investment Vehicles	Based Advisory Fees	Other Accounts	Based Advisory Fees	
	Number: 3		Number: 4		Number: 3		
	Assets:		Assets:		Assets:		
Ben Kirby	\$12,312,029,511	Number: 0	\$41,891,812	Number: 0	\$62,194,890	Number: 0	
	Number: 2		Number: 4		Number: 102		
	Assets:		Assets:		Assets:		
Matt Burdett	\$14,908,164,172	Number: 0	\$85,020,891	Number: 0	\$181,040,685	Number: 0	
	Number: 1		Number: 4		Number: 1		
	Assets:		Assets:		Assets:		
Christian Hoffmann	\$3,280,823,610	Number: 0	\$208,384,282	Number: 0	\$6,312,585	Number: 0	

Administrator

Under the Administrative Services Agreement (the "Administration Agreement"), subject to the supervision of the Board, Thornburg is also responsible for providing additional fund accounting and tax services, and providing fund administration and compliance-related services. Thornburg will bear all expenses in connection with the performance of its services under the Administration Agreement, except for certain out-of-pocket expenses described therein. will not bear any expenses incurred by the Trust, including but not limited to, initial organization and offering expenses; litigation expenses; costs of preferred shares (if any); expenses of conducting repurchase offers for the purpose of repurchasing Trust shares; transfer agency and custodial expenses; taxes; interest; Trust trustees' fees; compensation and expenses of Trust officers who are not associated with or its affiliates; brokerage fees and commissions; state and federal registration fees; advisory fees; insurance premiums; fidelity bond premiums; Trust legal and audit fees and expenses; costs of maintenance of Trust existence; printing and delivery of materials in connection with meetings of the Trust's trustees; printing and mailing shareholder reports, offering documents, and proxy materials; securities pricing and data services; and expenses in connection with electronic filings with the SEC.

Codes of Ethics

The Trust, the Adviser, and the distributor for the Adviser and the Trust have adopted a code of ethics under Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act. These codes permit personnel subject to the code to invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Trust. The codes of ethics are available on the EDGAR Database on the SEC's website (http://www.sec.gov), and copies of these codes may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following e-mail address: publicinfo@sec.gov.

TRUST SERVICE PROVIDERS

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("**PwC**"), has been appointed as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Trust. PwC audits the financial statements of the Trust and provides other audit, tax and related services. The Statement of Assets and Liabilities of the Trust as of May 10, 2021 appearing in this SAI has been audited by PwC, as set forth in its report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and is included in reliance upon such report given upon the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

Legal Counsel

Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP serves as legal counsel to the Trust in connection with the offering of Common Shares contemplated by the Prospectus. Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP serves as legal counsel to the independent trustees of the Trust.

Custodian, Transfer Agent and Dividend Disbursing Agent

State Street Bank & Trust Co. ("State Street"), located at One Lincoln Street, Boston, MA 02111, will serve as the Trust's accountant, custodian and will maintain custody of the securities and cash of the Trust pursuant to a Custody Agreement. Under the Custody Agreement, the custodian holds the Trust's assets in compliance with the 1940 Act. For its services, the custodian will receive a monthly fee based upon, among other things, the average value of the total assets of the Trust, plus certain charges for securities transactions.

Computershare Shareowner Services LLC ("Computershare"), located at 250 Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts 02021, will serve as the transfer agent, registrar, dividend reinvestment plan administrator and dividend disbursing agent for the Trust.

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS

All orders for the purchase or sale of portfolio securities are placed on behalf of the Trust by the Adviser pursuant to its authority under the Trust's investment advisory agreement. Thornburg also is responsible for the placement of transaction orders for other clients for whom it acts as investment adviser.

The Adviser, in effecting purchases and sales of fixed income securities for the account of the Trust, places orders in such a manner as, in the opinion of the Adviser, offers the best available price and most favorable execution of each transaction. Portfolio securities normally will be purchased directly from an underwriter or in the over-the-counter market from the principal dealers in such securities, unless it appears that a better price of execution may be obtained elsewhere. Purchases from underwriters will include a commission or concession paid by the issuer to the underwriter, and purchases from dealers will include the spread between the bid and asked price.

Similarly, the Adviser places orders for transactions in equity securities in such a manner as, in the opinion of the Adviser, will offer the best available price and most favorable execution of these transactions. In selecting broker dealers, subject to applicable legal requirements, the Adviser considers various relevant factors, including, but not limited to: the size and type of the transaction; the nature and character of the markets for the security to be purchased or sold; the execution efficiency, settlement capability, and financial condition of the broker-dealer firm; the broker-dealer's execution services rendered on a continuing basis; and the reasonableness of any commissions; and arrangements for payment of Trust expenses. Generally, commissions for foreign investments traded will be higher than for U.S. investments and may not be subject to negotiation.

The Adviser may execute the Trust's portfolio transactions with broker-dealers who provide research and brokerage services to the Adviser. Such services may include, but are not limited to, provision of market information relating to the security, economy, industries or specific companies; order execution systems; technical and quantitative information about the markets; and effecting securities transactions and performing functions incidental thereto (such as clearance and settlement). Research and brokerage services include information and analysis provided electronically through online facilities. The receipt of research from broker-dealers who execute transactions on behalf of the Trust may be useful to the Adviser in rendering investment management services to the Trust. The receipt of such research may not reduce the Adviser's normal independent research activities; however, it may enable the Adviser to avoid the additional expenses that could be incurred if the Adviser tried to develop comparable information through its own efforts.

The Adviser may pay, or be deemed to pay, to broker-dealers who provide research and brokerage services to the Adviser, commission rates higher than might otherwise be obtainable from other broker-dealers. Thornburg does not attempt to assign a specific dollar value to the research provided in connection with trades for client accounts or to allocate the relative cost or benefit of research or brokerage services. The research and brokerage services may benefit client accounts other than the specific client account(s) for which a trade is effected, and some or all of the research or brokerage services received with respect to a specific trade may not be used in connection with the account(s) for which the trade was executed. Some of the described services may be available for purchase by the Adviser on a cash basis.

U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX MATTERS

The following is a summary discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to a Common Shareholder that acquires, holds and/or disposes of Common Shares of the Trust. This discussion only addresses U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Common Shareholders who hold their Common Shares as capital assets and does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to particular Common Shareholders in light of their individual circumstances. This discussion also does not address the tax consequences to Common Shareholders who are subject to special rules, including, without limitation, banks and other financial institutions, insurance companies, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, traders in securities that have elected to mark-to-market their securities holdings, foreign holders, persons who hold their Common Shares as or in a hedge against currency risk, or as part of a constructive sale, straddle or conversion transaction, or tax-exempt or tax-deferred plans, accounts, or entities. In addition, the discussion does not address any state, local, or foreign tax consequences. The discussion reflects applicable income tax laws of the United States as of the date hereof, which tax laws may be changed or subject to new interpretations by the courts or the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") retroactively or prospectively, which could affect the continued validity of this summary. No attempt is made to present a detailed explanation of all U.S. federal income tax concerns affecting the Trust and its Common Shareholders, and the discussion set forth herein does not constitute tax advice. **Investors are urged to consult their own tax advisors before making an investment in the Trust to determine the specific tax consequences to them of investing in the Trust**, **including the applicable federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences as well as the effect of possible changes in tax laws**.

Trust Taxation

The Trust intends to elect to be treated, and to qualify each year, as a "regulated investment company" under Subchapter M of the Code, so that it will generally not pay U.S. federal income tax on income and capital gains timely distributed (or treated as being distributed, as described below) to Common Shareholders. If the Trust qualifies as a regulated investment company and distributes to its Common Shareholders at least 90% of the sum of (i) its "investment company taxable income" as that term is defined in the Code (which includes, among other things, dividends, taxable interest, the excess of any net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses and certain net foreign exchange gains as reduced by certain deductible expenses) without regard to the deduction for dividends paid, and (ii) the excess of its gross tax-exempt interest, if any, over certain disallowed deductions, the Trust will be relieved of U.S. federal income tax on any income of the Trust, including long-term capital gains, distributed to Common Shareholders. However, if the Trust retains any investment company taxable income or "net capital gain" (i.e., the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss), it will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate federal income tax rates (currently at a maximum rate of 21%) on the amount retained. The Trust intends to distribute at least annually all or substantially all of its investment company taxable income (determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid), net tax-exempt interest, if any, and net capital gain. Under the Code, the Trust will generally be subject to a nondeductible 4% federal excise tax on the portion of its undistributed ordinary income and capital gains if it fails to meet certain distribution requirements with respect to each calendar year. In order to avoid the 4% federal excise tax, the required minimum distribution is generally equal to the sum of 98% of the Trust's ordinary income (computed on a calendar year basis, and taking into account certain deferrals and elections), plus 98.2% of the Trust's capital gain net income (generally computed for the one-year period ending on October 31) plus undistributed amounts from prior years on which the Trust paid no federal income tax. The Trust generally intends to make distributions in a timely manner in an amount at least equal to the required minimum distribution and therefore, under normal circumstances, does not expect to be subject to this excise tax. However, the Trust may also decide to distribute less and pay the federal excise taxes.

If for any taxable year the Trust does not qualify as a regulated investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it would be treated as a U.S. corporation subject to U.S. federal income tax, and possibly state and local income tax, and distributions to its Common Shareholders would not be deductible by the Trust in computing its taxable income. In such event, the Trust's distributions, to the extent derived from the Trust's current or accumulated earnings and profits, would generally constitute ordinary dividends, which generally would be eligible for the dividends received deduction available to corporate Common Shareholders under Section 243 of the Code, discussed below, and non-corporate Common Shareholders of the Trust generally would be able to treat such distributions as qualified dividend income eligible for reduced rates of U.S. federal income taxation, as discussed below, provided in each case that certain holding period and other requirements are satisfied.

If the Trust invests in certain positions such as pay-in-kind securities, zero coupon securities, deferred interest securities or, in general, any other securities with original issue discount (or with market discount if the Trust elects to include market discount in income currently), the Trust must accrue income on such investments for each taxable year, which generally will be prior to the receipt of the corresponding cash payments. However, the Trust must distribute, at least annually, all or substantially all of its net investment income, including such accrued income, to Common Shareholders to avoid U.S. federal income and excise taxes. Therefore, the Trust may have to dispose of its portfolio securities under disadvantageous circumstances to generate cash, or may have to leverage itself by borrowing the cash, to satisfy distribution requirements.

The Trust may also acquire market discount bonds. A market discount bond is a security acquired in the secondary market at a price below its stated redemption price at maturity (or its adjusted issue price if it is also an original issue discount bond). If the Trust invests in a market discount bond, it will be required for federal income tax purposes to treat any gain recognized on the disposition of such market discount bond as ordinary income (instead of capital gain) to the extent of the accrued market discount unless the Trust elects to include the market discount in income as it accrues.

The Trust may invest in debt obligations that are in the lowest rating categories or are unrated, including debt obligations of issuers not currently paying interest or who are in default. Investments in debt obligations that are at risk of or in default present special tax issues. Tax rules are not entirely clear about issues such as when the Trust may cease to accrue interest, original issue discount or market discount, when and to what extent deductions may be taken for bad debts or worthless securities, how payments received on obligations in default should be allocated between principal and income and whether exchanges of debt obligations in a bankruptcy or workout context are taxable. These and other related issues will be addressed by the Trust when, as and if it invests in such securities, in order to seek to ensure that it distributes sufficient income to preserve its status as a regulated investment company and does not become subject to U.S. federal income or excise taxes.

The Trust may engage in various transactions utilizing options, futures contracts, forward contracts, hedge instruments, straddles, and other similar transactions. Such transactions may be subject to special provisions of the Code that, among other things, affect the character of any income realized by the Trust from such investments, accelerate recognition of income to the Trust, defer Trust losses and affect the determination of whether capital gain or loss is characterized as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss. These rules could therefore affect the character, amount and timing of distributions to Common Shareholders. These provisions may also require the Trust to mark-to-market certain positions in its portfolio (*i.e.*, treat them as if they were closed out), which may cause the Trust to recognize income without receiving cash with which to make distributions in amounts necessary to satisfy the distribution requirements for avoiding U.S. federal income and excise taxes. In addition, certain Trust investments may produce income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 90% income test. The Trust will monitor its investments and transactions, will make the appropriate entries in its books and records when it acquires an option, futures contract, forward contract, hedge instrument or other similar investment in order to mitigate the effect of these rules, prevent disqualification of the Trust as a regulated investment company and minimize the imposition of U.S. federal income and excise taxes, if possible.

The Trust's transactions in broad based equity index futures contracts, exchange-traded options on such indices and certain other futures contracts (if any) are generally considered "Section 1256 contracts" for federal income tax purposes. Any unrealized gains or losses on such Section 1256 contracts are treated as though they were realized at the end of each taxable year. The resulting gain or loss is treated as sixty percent long-term capital gain or loss and forty percent short-term capital gain or loss. Gain or loss recognized on actual sales of Section 1256 contracts is treated in the same manner. As noted below, distributions of net short-term capital gain are taxable to Common Shareholders as ordinary income while distributions of net long-term capital gain are generally taxable to Common Shareholders as long-term capital gain, regardless of how long the Common Shareholder has held Common Shares of the Trust.

The Trust's entry into an option or certain other contracts (if any) could be treated as the constructive sale of an appreciated financial position, causing the Trust to realize gain, but not loss, on the position.

If the Trust acquires any equity interest (generally including not only stock but also an option to acquire stock such as is inherent in a convertible bond) in certain foreign corporations that receive at least 75% of their annual gross income from passive sources (such as interest, dividends, certain rents and royalties, or capital gains) or that hold at least 50% of their assets in investments producing such passive income ("passive foreign investment companies"), the Trust could be subject to U.S. federal income tax and additional interest charges on "excess distributions" received from such companies or on gain from the sale of equity interests in such companies, even if all income or gain actually received by the Trust is timely distributed to its shareholders. The Trust would not be able to pass through to its shareholders any credit or deduction for such tax. Any gain on the sale of these investments will generally be treated as ordinary income. Elections may be available that would ameliorate some or gain (which would be subject to the distribution requirements described above) without the concurrent receipt of cash. The Trust may limit and/or manage its holdings in passive foreign investment companies to limit its tax liability or maximize its return from these investments.

The Trust may be subject to withholding and other taxes imposed by foreign countries, including taxes on interest, dividends and capital gains with respect to its investments in those countries (if any), which would, if imposed, reduce the yield on or return from those investments. Tax treaties between certain countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate such taxes in some cases. If more than 50% of the value of the Trust's total assets at the close of its taxable year consists of stock or securities of foreign corporations, or if at least 50% of the value of the Trust's total assets at the close of each quarter of its taxable year is represented by interests in other regulated investment companies, the Trust may elect to "pass through" to its shareholders the amount of foreign taxes paid or deemed paid by the Trust. If the Trust so elects, each of its shareholders would be required to include in gross income, even though not actually received, its pro rata share of the foreign taxes paid or deemed paid by the Trust, but would be treated as having paid its pro rata share of such foreign taxes and would therefore be allowed to either deduct such amount in computing taxable income or use such amount (subject to various limitations) as a foreign tax credit against federal income tax (but not both).

If the Trust utilizes leverage through borrowing, asset coverage limitations imposed by the 1940 Act as well as additional restrictions that may be imposed by certain lenders on the payment of dividends or distributions could potentially limit or eliminate the Trust's ability to make distributions on its common stock until the asset coverage is restored. These limitations could prevent the Trust from distributing at least 90% of its investment company taxable income as is required under the Code and therefore might jeopardize the Trust's qualification as a regulated investment company and/or might subject the Trust to the nondeductible 4% federal excise tax discussed above. Upon any failure to meet the asset coverage requirements imposed by the 1940 Act, the Trust may, in its sole discretion and to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, purchase or redeem shares of preferred stock, if any, in order to maintain or restore the requisite asset coverage and avoid the adverse consequences to the Trust and its Common Shareholders of failing to meet the distribution requirements. There can be no assurance, however, that any such action would achieve these objectives. The Trust generally will endeavor to avoid restrictions on its ability to distribute dividends.

Shareholder Taxation

Distributions of investment company taxable income are generally taxable as ordinary income to the extent of the Trust's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions of net investment income designated by the Trust as derived from qualified dividend income will be taxed in the hands of individuals and other non-corporate taxpayers at the rates applicable to long-term capital gain, provided certain holding period and other requirements are met at both the shareholder and Trust levels. A dividend will not be treated as qualified dividend income (at either the Trust or shareholder level) (i) if the dividend is received with respect to any share of stock held for fewer than 61 days during the 121-day period beginning on the date which is 60 days before the date on which such share becomes ex-dividend with respect to such dividend (or, in the case of certain preferred stock, 91 days during the 181-day period beginning 90 days before such date), (ii) to the extent that the recipient is under an obligation (whether pursuant to a short sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property, (iii) if the recipient elects to have the dividend income treated as investment income for purposes of the limitation on deductibility of investment interest, or (iv) if the dividend is received from a foreign corporation that is (a) not eligible for the benefits of a comprehensive income tax treaty with the U.S. which the IRS has approved for these purposes (with the exception of dividends paid on stock of such a foreign corporation that is readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S.) or (b) treated as a passive foreign investment company. If the Trust received dividends from another investment company that qualifies as a regulated investment company, and the other investment company designates such dividends as qualified dividend income, then the Trust is permitted in turn to designate a portion of its distributions as qualified dividend income, provided the Trust meets holding period and other requirements with respect to shares of the other investment company. Qualified dividend income does not include interest from fixed income securities and generally does not include income from REITs. If the Trust lends portfolio securities, amounts received by the Trust that is the equivalent of the dividends paid by the issuer on the securities loaned will not be eligible for qualified dividend income treatment. The Trust can provide no assurance regarding the portion of its dividends that will qualify for qualified dividend income treatment.

The Trust may make distributions to Common Shareholders of "section 199A dividends" with respect to qualified dividends that it receives with respect to investments in REITs. A section 199A dividend is any dividend or part of such dividend that the Trust pays to Common Shareholders and reports as a section 199A dividend in written statements furnished to Common Shareholders. Distributions paid by a Trust that are eligible to be treated as section 199A dividends for a taxable year may not exceed the "qualified REIT dividends" received by the Trust from REITs reduced by the Trust's allocable expenses. Section 199A dividends may be taxed to individuals and other non-corporate shareholders at a reduced effective federal income tax rate, provided that the shareholder receiving the dividends has satisfied a holding period requirement for the Trust's shares and satisfied certain other conditions. For the lower rates to apply, a Common Shareholder must have owned its Trust shares for at least 46 days during the 91-day period beginning on the date that is 45 days before the Trust's ex-dividend date, but only to the extent that the Common Shareholder is not under an obligation (under a short-sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property.

Under recently issued Treasury regulations, certain distributions reported by a regulated investment company as section 163(j) interest dividends may be treated as interest income by shareholders for purposes of the tax rules applicable to interest expense limitations under Code section 163(j). Such treatment by the shareholder is generally subject to holding period requirements and other potential limitations, although the holding period requirements are generally not applicable to dividends declared by money market funds and certain other funds that declare dividends daily and pay such dividends on a monthly or more frequent basis. The amount that the Trust is eligible to report as a Section 163(j) dividend for a tax year is generally limited to the excess of the Trust's business interest income over the sum of the Trust's (i) business interest expense and (ii) other deductions properly allocable to the Trust's business interest income.

Distributions to Common Shareholders of net investment income received by the Trust from taxable investments, if any, including temporary taxable investments, and of net short-term capital gains realized by the Trust, if any, will be taxable to Common Shareholders as ordinary income. Distributions by the Trust of net capital gain (i.e., the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss), if any, are taxable as long-term capital gain, regardless of the length of time the Common Shareholder has owned the shares with respect to which such distributions are made. The amount of taxable income allocable to the Trust's shares will depend upon the amount of such income realized by the Trust. Distributions, if any, in excess of the Trust's earnings and profits will first reduce the adjusted tax basis of a Common Shareholder's shares and, after that basis has been reduced to zero, will constitute capital gain to the Common Shareholder (assuming the shares are held as a capital asset). The U.S. federal income tax status of all distributions will be designated by the Trust and reported to Common Shareholders annually.

Certain distributions by the Trust may qualify for the dividends received deduction available to corporate Common Shareholders under Section 243 of the Code, subject to certain holding period and other requirements, but generally only to the extent the Trust earned dividend income from stock investments in U.S. domestic corporations (but not including real estate investment trusts). Additionally, if the Trust received dividends from another investment company that qualifies as a regulated investment company, and the other investment company designates such dividends as eligible for the dividends received deduction, then the Trust is permitted in turn to designate a portion of its distributions as eligible for the dividends received deduction, provided the Trust meets holding period and other requirements with respect to shares of the other investment company. As long as the Trust qualifies as a RIC under the Code, it is not expected that any significant part of its distributions to Common Shareholders from its investments will qualify for the dividends-received deduction available to corporate Common Shareholders.

A Common Shareholder may elect to have all dividends and distributions automatically reinvested in Common Shares of the Trust. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, all dividends are generally taxable regardless of whether a Common Shareholder takes them in cash or they are reinvested in additional Common Shares of the Trust.

If a Common Shareholder's distributions are automatically reinvested in additional Common Shares, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Common Shareholder will be treated as having received a distribution in the amount of the cash dividend that the Common Shareholder would have received if the Common Shareholder had elected to receive cash, unless the distribution is in newly issued Common Shares of the Trust that are trading at or above net asset value, in which case the Common Shareholder will be treated as receiving a distribution equal to the fair market value of the stock the Common Shareholder receives.

The Trust intends to distribute all realized net capital gains, if any, at least annually. If, however, the Trust were to retain any net capital gain, the Trust may designate the retained amount as undistributed capital gains in a notice to Common Shareholders who, if subject to U.S. federal income tax on long-term capital gains, (i) will be required to include in income, as long-term capital gain, their proportionate share of such undistributed amount, and (ii) will be entitled to credit their proportionate share of the federal income tax paid by the Trust on the undistributed amount against their U.S. federal income tax liabilities, if any, and to claim refunds to the extent the credit exceeds such liabilities. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the tax basis of Common Shares owned by a Common Shareholder will be increased by the difference between the amount of undistributed net capital gain included in the Common Shareholder's gross income and the federal income tax deemed paid by the Common Shareholder.

Any dividend declared by the Trust in October, November or December with a record date in such a month and paid during the following January will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as paid by the Trust and received by Common Shareholders on December 31 of the calendar year in which it is declared.

At the time of an investor's purchase of the Trust's Common Shares, a portion of the purchase price may be attributable to realized or unrealized appreciation in the Trust's portfolio or undistributed taxable income of the Trust. Consequently, subsequent distributions by the Trust with respect to these Common Shares from such appreciation or income may be taxable to such investor even if the net asset value of the investor's Common Shares is, as a result of the distributions, reduced below the investor's cost for such Common Shares and the distributions economically represent a return of a portion of the investment. Investors should consider the tax implications of purchasing Common Shares just prior to a distribution.

The IRS has taken the position that if a regulated investment company has two or more classes of shares, it must designate distributions made to each class in any year as consisting of no more than such class' proportionate share of particular types of income (*e.g.*, ordinary income and net capital gains). Consequently, if both common stock and preferred stock are outstanding, the Trust intends to designate distributions made to each class of particular types of income in accordance with each class' proportionate share of such income. Thus, the Trust will designate to the extent applicable, dividends qualifying for the corporate dividends received deduction (if any), income not qualifying for the dividends received deduction, qualified dividend income, section 199A dividends, ordinary income, exempt interest and net capital gain in a manner that allocates such income between the holders of common stock and preferred stock in proportion to the total dividends paid to each class during or for the trust's current or accumulated earnings and profits, the Trust's earnings and profits will be allocated first to the Trust's preferred stock, if any, and then to the Trust's common stock. In such a case, since the Trust's current and accumulated earnings and profits will first be used to pay dividends on the preferred stock, distributions in excess of such earnings and profits, if any, will be made disproportionately to holders of common stock.

In addition, solely for the purpose of satisfying the 90% distribution requirement and the distribution requirement for avoiding federal excise taxes, certain distributions made after the close of a taxable year of the Trust may be "spilled back" and treated as paid during such taxable year. In such case, Common Shareholders will be treated as having received such dividends in the taxable year in which the distribution was actually made.

Sales, exchanges and other dispositions of the Trust's Common Shares generally are taxable events for Common Shareholders that are subject to federal income tax. Common Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their individual circumstances to determine whether any particular transaction in the Trust's Common Shares is properly treated as a sale or exchange for federal income tax purposes (as the following discussion assumes) and the tax treatment of any gains or losses recognized in such transactions. Generally, gain or loss will be equal to the difference between the amount of cash and the fair market value of other property received (including securities distributed by the Trust) and the Common Shareholder's adjusted tax basis in the Common Shares sold or exchanged. In general, any gain or loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Common Shares will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the Common Shares have been held for more than one year. Otherwise, the gain or loss on the taxable disposition of the Trust's Common Shares will be treated as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any loss realized by a Common Shareholder upon the sale or other disposition of Common Shares with a tax holding period of six months or less will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of any amounts treated as distributions of long-term capital gain with respect to such Common Shares. For the purposes of calculating the six-month period, the holding period is suspended for any periods during which the Common Shareholder's risk of loss is diminished as a result of holding one or more other positions in substantially similar or related property or through certain options, short sales or contractual obligations to sell. The maximum individual rate applicable to long-term capital gains is generally either 15% or 20%, depending on whether the individual's income exceeds certain threshold amounts. The ability to deduct capital losses may be subject to limitations. In addition, losses on sales or other dispositions of Common Shares may be disallowed under the "wash sale" rules in the event a Common Shareholder acquires substantially identical stock or securities (including those made pursuant to reinvestment of dividends) within a period of 61 days beginning 30 days before and ending 30 days after a sale or other disposition of Common Shares. In such a case, the disallowed portion of any loss generally would be included in the U.S. federal income tax basis of the Common Shares acquired.

An additional 3.8% Medicare tax is imposed on certain net investment income (including ordinary dividends and capital gain distributions received from the Trust and net gains from redemptions or other taxable dispositions of Common Shares) of U.S. individuals, estates and trusts to the extent that such person's "modified adjusted gross income" (in the case of an individual) or "adjusted gross income" (in the case of an estate or trust) exceeds certain threshold amounts.

From time to time, the Trust may repurchase its Common Shares. Common Shareholders who tender all Common Shares held, and those considered to be held (through attribution rules contained in the Code), by them will be treated as having sold their Common Shares and generally will realize a capital gain or loss. If a Common Shareholder tenders fewer than all of his, her or its Common Shares (including those considered held through attribution), such Common Shareholder may be treated as having received a taxable dividend upon the tender of its Common Shares. If a tender offer is made, there is a risk that non-tendering Common Shareholders will be treated as having received taxable distributions from the Trust. To the extent that the Trust recognizes net gains on the liquidation of portfolio securities to meet such tenders of Common Shares, the Trust will be required to make additional distributions to its Common Shareholders. If the Board determines that a tender offer will be made by the Trust, the federal income tax consequences of such offer will be discussed in materials that will be available at such time in connection with the specific tender offer, if any.

The Code requires that the Trust withhold, as "backup withholding," 24% of reportable payments, including dividends, capital gain distributions and the proceeds of sales or other dispositions of the Trust's stock paid to Common Shareholders who have not complied with IRS regulations. In order to avoid this withholding requirement, Common Shareholders must certify on their account applications, or on a separate IRS Form W-9, that the social security number or other taxpayer identification number they provide is their correct number and that they are not currently subject to backup withholding, or that they are exempt from backup withholding. The Trust may nevertheless be required to withhold if it receives notice from the IRS or a broker that the number

provided is incorrect or backup withholding is applicable. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amount withheld may be allowed as a refund or a credit against the Common Shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability if the appropriate information (such as the timely filing of the appropriate federal income tax return) is provided to the IRS.

Under Treasury regulations, if a Common Shareholder recognizes a loss with respect to Common Shares of \$2 million or more in a single taxable year (or \$4 million or more in any combination of taxable years) for an individual Common Shareholder, S corporation or trust or \$10 million or more in a single taxable year (or \$20 million or more in any combination of years) for a Common Shareholder who is a C corporation, such Common Shareholder will generally be required to file with the IRS a disclosure statement on Form 8886. Direct shareholders of portfolio securities are generally excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, shareholders of a regulated investment company are not excepted. Future guidance may extend the current exception from this reporting requirement to shareholders of most or all regulated investment companies. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Common Shareholders should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Non-U.S. Common Shareholders

If you are a non-U.S. Common Shareholder (i.e., a Common Shareholder other than a U.S. citizen or resident or a U.S. corporation, partnership, estate or trust), you should be aware that, generally, distributions from the Trust will be characterized as dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes (other than dividends which the Trust properly reports as capital gain dividends) and will be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, including withholding taxes, subject to certain exceptions described below. Dividends will generally be subject to a U.S. withholding tax of 30% of the distribution.

However, distributions received by a non-U.S. Common Shareholder from the Trust that are properly reported by the Trust as capital gain dividends may not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, including withholding taxes, provided that the Trust makes certain elections and certain other conditions are met. Distributions from the Trust that are properly reported by the Trust as an interest-related dividend attributable to certain interest income received by the Trust or as a short-term capital gain dividend attributable to certain net short-term capital gain income received by the Trust may not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, including withholding taxes when received by certain non-U.S. Common Shareholders, provided that the Trust makes certain elections and certain other conditions are met.

In addition, some non-U.S. Common Shareholders may be eligible for a reduction or elimination of U.S. withholding taxes under a treaty.

Any capital gain realized on the sale, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of Common Shares by a non-U.S. Common Shareholder will be exempt from U.S. federal income and withholding tax, *provided* that (i) the gain is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States by the non-U.S. Common Shareholder and (ii) in the case of an individual non-U.S. Common Shareholder, the non-U.S. Common Shareholder is not present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year and does not otherwise have a "tax home" within the United States.

Separately, the United States, pursuant to the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA") imposes a 30% tax on certain non-U.S. entities that receive U.S. source interest or dividends if the non-U.S. entity does not comply with certain U.S. disclosure and reporting requirements.

The Code requires that the Trust withhold, as "backup withholding," 24% of reportable payments, including dividends, capital gain distributions and the proceeds of sales or other dispositions of the Trust's stock paid to Common Shareholders who have not complied with IRS regulations. In order to avoid this withholding requirement, non-U.S. Common Shareholders must provide one of the U.S. IRS forms described below. The Trust may nevertheless be required to withhold if it receives notice from the IRS or a broker that the information provided is incorrect or backup withholding is applicable. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amount withheld may be allowed as a refund or a credit against the Common Shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability if the appropriate information (such as the timely filing of the appropriate federal income tax return) is provided to the IRS.

To claim a reduction of withholding (including an exclusion from the FATCA tax and backup withholding), a Common Shareholder must provide the institution through which the Common Shareholder has purchased its shares with a U.S. IRS Form W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI, or W-8EXP.

If income from the Trust is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. Common Shareholder, the income, although exempt from the withholding tax discussed above, the income will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that interest at graduated rates. In addition, if the non-U.S. Common Shareholder is a non-U.S. corporation, it will be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% of its "effectively connected earnings and profits" within the meaning of the Code for the taxable year, as adjusted for certain items, unless it qualifies for a lower rate or an exemption under an applicable tax treaty. A non-U.S. Common Shareholder other than an individual or corporation (or an entity treated as such for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holding the Common Shares on its own behalf may have substantially increased reporting requirements. In particular, in the case of Common Shares held by a non-U.S. partnership or non-U.S. trust, the partners or beneficiaries, as the case may be, may be required to provide certain additional information.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

The following table presents certain information regarding the members of the Board of Trustees (the "Board" or the "Trustees"). Each Trustee's year of birth is set forth in parentheses after his or her name. The Board is divided into three classes of trustees serving staggered three-year terms. The initial terms of the first, second and third classes of trustees will expire at the first, second and third annual meetings of Common Shareholders, respectively, and, in each case, until their successors are duly elected and qualify, or until a trustee sooner dies, retires, resigns or is removed as provided in the governing documents of the Trust. Upon expiration of their initial terms, trustees of each class will be elected to serve for three-year terms and until their successors are duly elected and qualify, and at each annual meeting one class of trustees will be elected by the Common Shareholders.

Except as otherwise noted, the address for all trustees and officers is 2300 North Ridgetop Road, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87506. The "independent trustees" consist of those trustees who are not "interested persons" of the Trust, as that term is defined under the 1940 Act (each, an "Independent Trustee" and collectively, the "Independent Trustees").

Name, Address and Year of Birth Independent Trustees	Position(s) Held with Registrant	Term of Office and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex ⁽¹⁾ Overseen by Trustee	Other Trustee Positions ⁽²⁾ Held by Trustee During Past 5 Years
Anne W. Kritzmire (1962)	Trustee	Since 2020	Head of Multi-Asset / Solutions Marketing at Nuveen Investments since 2018; Managing Director, Closed-End Funds (2012-2018; 2005-2010), Managing Director, Channel Marketing (2011-2012) at Nuveen Investments.	1	N/A
Dina A. Tantra (1969)	Trustee; Chairperson of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	Since 2020	Co-Founder/CEO of Global Rhino (asset management consulting) since 2018; Chief Strategy Officer of JOOT (asset management consulting) since 2019; Executive Vice President, Ultimus Fund Solutions (2018- 2019); Managing Director, Foreside Financial (broker- dealer) (2016-2017); Director, Client Development & General Counsel, Beacon Hill Fund Services (2008-2016).	1	Advisers Investment Trust (2012 to 2017).

Brian W. Wixted (1959)	Trustee; Chairperson of the Audit Committee	Since 2020	Principal Consultant, CKC Consulting Corporation (asset management consulting) since 2017; Senior Vice President – Finance & Fund Treasurer, Oppenheimer Funds, Inc. (OFI) (1999-2016).	1	Lincoln Variable Insurance Products Trust (104 funds) (2019- present).
Interested Trustees Nimish S. Bhatt (1963)	Trustee & Chair of the Board	Since 2020	Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Thornburg Investment Management, Inc. and Thornburg Securities Corporation since 2016, and Secretary of Thornburg Securities Corporation; Senior Vice President (2004-2016), Chief Financial Officer (2011- 2016, and Head of Fund Administration (2011-2016) of Calamos Asset Management, Inc., Calamos Investments LLC, Calamos Advisors LLC, and Calamos Wealth Management; Director of Calamos Global Funds plc (2007-2016).	1	N/A
Benjamin D. Kirby (1979)	Trustee	Since 2020	Head of Investments since 2019, and Portfolio Manager and Managing Director since 2013, of Thornburg Investment Management, Inc	1	N/A
<i>Officers</i> Jason Brady (1974)	President	Since 2020	Director since 2017, CEO and President since 2016, and Portfolio Manager and Managing Director of Thornburg Investment Management, Inc.; Vice President of Thornburg Securities Corporation.	N/A	N/A
Curtis Holloway (1967)	Principal Financial Officer and Treasurer	Since 2020	Director of Fund Administration since 2019 of Thornburg Investment Management, Inc.; Senior Vice President, Head of Fund Administration (2017- 2019) and Vice President, Fund Administration (2010-2017) of Calamos Investments, and Chief Financial Officer (2017-2019) and Treasurer (2010-2019) of Calamos Funds.	N/A	N/A

Vilayphone Lithiluxa (1970)	Assistant Treasurer	Since 2020	Manager, Tax & Fund Administration of Thornburg Investment Management, Inc.; Senior Vice President, Citi Fund Services, Inc. from 2014-2017; Vice President, Citi Fund Services, Inc. from 2007-2014.	N/A	N/A
Stephen Velie (1967)	Chief Compliance Officer	Since 2020	Chief Compliance Officer of Thornburg Investment Trust and Thornburg Investment Management, Inc. since 2009.	N/A	N/A

(1) The Fund Complex consists of the Trust, and Thornburg Investment Trust, a mutual fund trust comprising of 22 separate investment "funds" or "series."

(2) The numbers enclosed in the parentheticals represent the number of funds overseen in each respective trusteeship held by the trustee.

Board Leadership Structure. The Board, which has overall responsibility for the oversight of the Trust's investment programs and business affairs, believes that it has structured itself in a manner that allows it to effectively perform its oversight obligations. Nimish S. Bhatt, the Chair of the Board, is not an Independent Trustee. The Board believes that the use of an interested trustee as Chair is the appropriate leadership structure for the Trust given (i) Mr. Bhatt's role in the day to day operations of the Adviser, (ii) the extent to which the work of the Board of Trustees is conducted through the Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees (the "Audit Committee") and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Trustees (the "Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee"), each of which is chaired by an Independent Trustee, (iii) the frequency that Independent Trustees meet with their independent legal counsel and auditors in the absence of members of the Board of Trustees who are interested trustees of the Trust and management, and (iv) the overall sophistication of the Independent Trustees, both individually and collectively. The members of Board of Trustees will also complete an annual self-assessment during which the trustees review their overall structure and consider where and how its structure remains appropriate in light of the Trust's current circumstances. The Chair's role is to preside at all meetings of the Board of Trustees and in between meetings of the Board of Trustees to generally act as the liaison between the Board of Trustees and the Trust's officers, attorneys and various other service providers, including but not limited to the Adviser and other such third parties servicing the Trust. The Board of Trustees believes that having an interested person serve as Chair of the Board of Trustees enables Chair to more effectively carry out these liaison activities. The Board of Trustees also believes that it benefits during its meetings from having a person intimately familiar with the operations of the Trust to set the agenda for meetings of the Board of Trustees to ensure that important matters are brought to the attention of and considered by the Board of Trustees.

The Trust has two standing committees, each of which enhances the leadership structure of the Board: the Audit Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Audit Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are each chaired by, and composed of, members who are Independent Trustees.

The Audit Committee is comprised of Anne Kritzmire, Dina Tantra and Brian Wixted, all of whom are "independent" as defined in the listing standard of the NASDAQ. Brian Wixted is the Chair of the Audit Committee and has been determined to qualify as an "audit committee financial expert" as such term is defined in Form N-CSR. The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its oversight of (i) the quality and integrity of the Trust's financial statements, reporting process and the independent registered public accounting firm (the "independent accountants") and reviews thereof, (ii) the Trust's accounting and financial reporting policies and practices, its internal controls and, as appropriate, the internal controls of certain service providers, (iii) the Trust's compliance with certain legal and regulatory requirements, and (iv) the independent accountants' qualifications, independence and performance. The Audit Committee is also required to prepare an audit committee report pursuant to the rules of the SEC for inclusion in the Trust's annual proxy statement. The Audit Committee operates pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter that was most recently reviewed and approved by the Board on May 7, 2021. The Audit Committee Charter will be available at the Trust's website, www.thornburg.com. As set forth in the Audit Committee Charter, management is responsible for maintaining appropriate systems for accounting and internal control, and the Trust's independent accountants are responsible for planning and carrying out proper audits and reviews. The independent accountants are ultimately accountable to the Board and to the Audit Committee, as representatives of the Common Shareholders. The independent accountants for the Trust report directly to the Audit Committee. During the last fiscal year, the Audit Committee held no meetings.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of Anne Kritzmire, Dina Tantra and Brian Wixted and Dina Tantra is the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending to the Board individuals believed to be qualified to become members of the Board in the event that a position is vacated or created. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider trustee candidates recommended by Common Shareholders. In considering candidates submitted by Common Shareholders, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will take into consideration the needs of the Board, the qualifications of the candidate and the interests of Common Shareholders. Common Shareholders wishing to recommend candidates to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee should submit such recommendations to the Secretary of the Trust, who will forward the recommendations to the committee for consideration. With respect to each individual whom the Common Shareholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as Trustee (each, a "Proposed Nominee"), the submission must include: (i) the name or names, age, date of birth, business address, residence address and nationality of such Proposed Nominee, (ii) whether such Shareholder believes the Proposed Nominee is, or is not, an Interested Person and, if not an Interested Person, information regarding the Proposed Nominee that will be sufficient for the Board of Trustees or any committee thereof or any authorized officer of the Trust to make such determination, (iii) sufficient information to enable the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Trustees, or any other Committee of the Board as determined by the Trustees from time to time, to make the determination as to the Proposed Nominee's qualifications required under Article IV, Section 1 of the Declaration of Trust, and (iv) the Proposed Nominee's written, signed and notarized statement confirming the Proposed Nominee's consent to being named in the proxy statement and intention to serve as a Trustee, if elected. During the last fiscal year, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee held no meetings.

Trustee Qualifications.

Nimish S. Bhatt. Mr. Bhatt has served as an Interested Trustee and Chair of the Board of Trustees of the Trust since its inception. Since 2016 Mr. Bhatt has served as Chief Financial Officer of Thornburg Investment Management, responsible for corporate finance, tax, fund accounting, and fund administration. He has over 30 years of progressive experience in strategy, leveraged finance, equity issuance, mergers and acquisitions, operations, technology, accounting, administration, and tax-related matters in the global investment management industry. Mr. Bhatt previously served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Calamos Asset Management, Inc. During his tenure at Calamos, he was also responsible for fund administration, operations, and information technology. He also served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Calamos Fund Complex, which included mutual funds, ETFs and closed-end funds. Previously, he served in various capacities for The BISYS Group, Inc., Evergreen Asset Management Corp., PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Ernst & Young LLP, and KPMG. He serves as a member of the Board for Thornburg Global Investment plc (Ireland), New Mexico Museum of Natural History Foundation, Greater Albuquerque Chamber of Commerce, Goldvest Financial Services Pvt. Ltd. (India), and Share My Fortune, Inc. Mr. Bhatt holds a B.S. in Advanced Accounting and Auditing and an LL.B. from Gujarat University, an M.B.A. from The Ohio State University Fisher College of Business, and an Advanced Management Program certificate from The Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania. He holds FINRA Series 27 and 99 securities registrations.

Benjamin D. Kirby, CFA. Mr. Kirby has served as an Interested Trustee of the Trust since its inception. Mr. Kirby is the Co-Head of Investments and a Managing Director at Thornburg Investment Management. Mr. Kirby joined Thornburg in 2008 as Equity Research Analyst, was promoted to Associate Portfolio Manager in 2011, and was named Portfolio Manager and Managing Director in 2013. He is responsible for driving the investment process at the firm level. Mr. Kirby has served as a portfolio manager of the Thornburg Investment Income Builder Fund since 2013, the Thornburg Developing World Fund since 2015, and the Thornburg Summit Fund since 2019. Mr. Kirby holds a B.A. in Computer Science from Fort Lewis College and an M.B.A. from Duke University's Fuqua School of Business. Prior to graduate school, he was a software engineer at Pinnacle Business Systems in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Mr. Kirby is a CFA charterholder and also holds FINRA Series 7 and 63 securities registrations.

Anne W. Kritzmire. Ms. Kritzmire has served as an Independent Trustee and as the Lead Independent Trustee of the Trust since its inception. Through more than 20 years of experience in the investment management industry, she has overseen strategic marketing, support and education for closed-end funds and various other investment solutions, including as Head of Multi-Asset and Solutions Marketing and as a Managing Director at Nuveen Investments. Ms. Kritzmire has held senior marketing positions with Abbott Laboratories and served in sales, engineering and consulting capacities with IBM Corporation. She has served as the President of the Closed-End Fund Association and a Director of Chicago Public Media (WBEZ radio). Ms. Kritzmire serves as the Trustee and Finance Commissioner of the Village of Long Grove. Ms. Kritzmire holds a B.S., cum laude, in Electrical Engineering from the University of Notre Dame and an M.B.A. in Marketing and Finance, with distinction, from the Kellogg Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University. She holds FINRA Series 7, 24 and 65 securities registrations.

Dina A. Tantra. Ms. Tantra has served as an Independent Trustee and as Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Trust since its inception. Ms. Tantra has more than 25 years of financial services industry legal and compliance experience. Ms. Tantra's experience includes leadership and management roles working with investment advisers, broker-dealers and financial products, with particular expertise in mutual fund distribution, servicing and governance. She has held various senior leadership positions in the legal, compliance and governance areas and has experience overseeing a staff of legal, finance and compliance experts. Since 2018, Ms. Tantra has served as the Co-Chief Executive Officer of Global Rhino. She previously served as Trustee and President of Advisers Investment Trust from 2012 to 2017, as Executive Vice President of Ultimus Fund Solutions, Director and General Counsel of Beacon Hill Fund Services, and Managing Director of Foreside Financial. Ms. Tantra holds a B.A. in Psychology from Pomona College, a J.D. from The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law, and a certificate in Finance for Executives from the University of Chicago, Booth School of Business.

Brian W. Wixted. Mr. Wixted has served as an Independent Trustee and as Chair of the Audit Committee of the Trust since its inception. Mr. Wixted has more than 40 years of financial services and investment management industry and accounting experience. He has served as a Trustee and Audit Committee Chair of Lincoln Variable Insurance Products Trust since 2019. Since 2016, he has served as a consultant for CKC Consulting and since 2019, as an Advisory Partner with AI Capital. Mr. Wixted served as the Senior Vice President of Finance and Fund Treasurer of the Oppenheimer Funds from 1999-2016. He previously served as the Principal and Chief Operating Officer of Bankers Trust Company's Mutual Funds Group, the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for CS First Boston Investment Management Corp, and as Vice President and Accounting Manager with Merrill Lynch Asset Management. Mr. Wixted holds a Certified Public Accountant designation and is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the New Jersey State Society of Certified Public Accountants. He is the former Chair of the Investment Company Institute Accounting Treasurers Committee and member of the AICPA Investment Company Expert Panel. Mr. Wixted holds a B.S. in Accounting from Creighton University.

Risk Oversight.

The Trust is confronted with a multitude of risks, such as investment risk, counterparty risk, valuation risk, political risk, risk of operational failures, business continuity risk, regulatory risk, legal risk and other risks not listed here. The Board recognizes that not all risk that may affect the Trust can be known, eliminated or even mitigated. In addition, there are some risks that may not be cost effective or an efficient use of the Trust's limited resources to moderate. As a result of these realities, the Board, through its oversight and leadership, has and will continue to deem it necessary for Common Shareholders to bear certain and undeniable risks, such as investment risk, in order for the Trust to operate in accordance with its Prospectus, SAI and other related documents.

However, the Board has adopted on the Trust's behalf a vigorous risk program that mandates the Trust's various service providers, including the Adviser, to adopt a variety of processes, procedures and controls to identify various risks, mitigate the likelihood of adverse events from occurring and/or attempt to limit the effects of such adverse events on the Trust. The Board fulfills its leadership role by receiving a variety of quarterly written reports prepared by the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer ("**CCO**") that (i) evaluate the operation, policies and procedures of the Trust's service providers, (ii) make known any material changes to the policies and procedures adopted by the Trust or its service providers since the CCO's last report, and (iii) disclose any material compliance matters that occurred since the date of the last CCO report. In addition, the Independent Trustees meet quarterly in executive sessions without the presence of any Interested Trustees, the Adviser, or any of its affiliates. This configuration permits the Independent Trustees to effectively receive the information and have private discussions necessary to perform their risk oversight role, exercise independent judgment and allocate areas of responsibility between the full Board, its committees and certain officers of the Trust. Furthermore, the Independent Trustees have engaged independent legal counsel and auditors to assist the Independent Trustees in performing their

oversight responsibilities. As discussed above and in consideration of other factors not referenced herein, the Board of Trustees has determined its leadership role concerning risk management as one of oversight and not active management of the Trust's day-to-day risk management operations.

Compensation. The Trust pays no salaries or compensation to any of its interested trustees or its officers. For their services, the Independent Trustees of the Trust receive an annual retainer in the amount of \$20,000, and an additional \$10,000 for attending each meeting of the Board. In addition, the lead Independent Trustee receives \$3,500 annually, the Chair of the Audit Committee receives \$2,500 annually and the Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee receives \$2,500 annually. The Independent Trustees are also reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses relating to attendance at meetings of the Board. The following tables show compensation with respect to the Trust and the Fund Complex. Nimish Bhatt and Ben Kirby are interested persons of the Trust of the Trust and have not received any compensation from the Trust.

Trustee	Estimated Compensation with respect to the Trust ⁽¹⁾		Estimated Total Compensation with respect to the Trust and Fund Complex ⁽²⁾		
Independent Trustees:					
Anne Kritzmire	\$ 36,500	\$	36,500		
Dina Tantra	\$ 34,000	\$	34,000		
Brian Witxted	\$ 34,000	\$	34,000		

- (1) The compensation estimated to be paid by the Trust for the first full fiscal year for services to the Trust.
- (2) The total compensation estimated to be paid to the Independent Trustees from the Trust and the Fund Complex for a full calendar year. The Fund Complex consists of the Trust, and Thornburg Investment Trust, a mutual fund trust comprising of 22 separate investment "funds" or "series."

Trustee Ownership in the Trust

The following table shows the dollar range of equity securities beneficially owned by each trustee in the Trust and Fund Complex as of December 31, 2020.

Trustee	Dollar Range of Beneficial Ownership in Trust	Aggregate Dollar Range of Ownership in all Trusts Overseen by Director in the Fund Complex ⁽¹⁾
Independent Trustee:		
Anne Kritzmire	None	None
Dina Tantra	None	None
Brian Wixted	None	None
Interested Trustee:		
Nimish Bhatt	None	Over \$100,000
Ben Kirby	None	Over \$100,000

(1) The Fund Complex consists of the Trust, and Thornburg Investment Trust, a mutual fund trust comprising of 22 separate investment "funds" or "series."

As of the date of this SAI, the Independent Trustees of the Trust and immediate family members do not own beneficially or of record any class of securities of the investment adviser or principal underwriter of the Trust or any person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with an investment adviser or principal underwriter of the Trust.

As of the date of this SAI, the trustees and officers of the Trust owned, as a group, less than 1% of the outstanding Common Shares of the Trust.

Securities Beneficially Owned

The Adviser has provided the initial capitalization of the Trust and therefore is deemed to be a control person because it was the sole Common Shareholder of the Trust at that time. However, it is anticipated that the Adviser will no longer be a control person of the Trust by virtue of share ownership once this offering of Common Shares is completed.

PROXY VOTING GUIDELINES

Thornburg is authorized by the Trust to vote proxies respecting voting securities held by the Trust. In those cases, Thornburg votes proxies in accordance with written Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures (the "**Policy**") adopted by Thornburg. The Policy states that the objective of voting a security is to enhance the value of the security, or to reduce potential for a decline in the security's value. The Policy prescribes procedures for assembling voting information and applying the informed expertise and judgment of Thornburg on a timely basis in pursuit of this voting objective.

The Policy also prescribes a procedure for voting proxies when a vote presents a conflict between the interests of the Trust and Thornburg. If the vote relates to the election of a director in an uncontested election or ratification or selection of independent accountants, the investment advisor will vote the proxy in accordance with the recommendation of any proxy voting service engaged by Thornburg.

The Policy authorizes Thornburg to utilize various sources of information in considering votes, including the engagement of service providers who provide analysis and information on the subjects of votes and who may recommend voting positions. Thornburg has engaged Institutional Shareholder Services ("**ISS**") to provide these services to Thornburg in connection with voting proxies for the Trust. Thornburg may or may not accept recommendations from ISS. Thornburg also may decline to vote in various situations, including cases where an issue is not relevant to the Policy's voting objective or where it is not possible to ascertain what effect a vote may have on the value of an investment. Thornburg may not be able to vote proxies in cases where proxy voting materials are not delivered to Thornburg in sufficient time for evaluation and voting.

Information regarding how proxies were voted is available on or before August 31 of each year for the twelve months ending the preceding June 30. This information is available (i) without charge, upon request by calling the Adviser toll-free at 1-800-847-0200, (ii) on the Thornburg website at www.thornburg.com, and (iii) on the Securities and Exchange Commission's website at www.sec.gov.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A Registration Statement on Form N-2, including amendments thereto, relating to the Common Shares offered hereby, has been filed by the Trust with the SEC, Washington, D.C. The Trust's Prospectus and this SAI do not contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement, including any exhibits and schedules thereto. For further information with respect to the Trust and the Common Shares offered hereby, reference is made to the Trust's Registration Statement. Statements contained in the Trust's Prospectus and this SAI as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to are not necessarily complete and in each instance reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference.

The Registration Statement is available on the EDGAR Database on the SEC's website, http://www.sec.gov, and may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request to publicinfo@sec.gov.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust

Opinion on the Financial Statement

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust (the "Fund") as of May 10, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statement"). In our opinion, the financial statement presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund as of May 10, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

This financial statement is the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Fund's financial statement based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Fund in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of this financial statement in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statement, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statement. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP New York, New York June 3, 2021

We have served as the auditor of one or more investment companies in Thornburg Fund Complex since 1999.

Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust

The Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust Statement of Assets and Liabilities presented below has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm of the Trust.

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

May 10, 2021	
ASSETS	
Cash with custodian	<u>\$ 125,000</u>
Total Assets	\$ 125,000
LIABILITIES	
Total liabilities	-
NET ASSETS	125,000
NET ASSETS CONSIST OF Paid in capital	<u>\$ 125,000</u>
Paid in capital	\$ 125,000

NET ASSETS	 125,000
Shares outstanding (a) Net asset value	\$ 6,250 20.00

(a) Common shares, \$0.001 par value, unlimited number of shares authorized

See accompanying notes to financial statement.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT

1 Organization

Thornburg Income Builder Opportunities Trust (the "Fund") is a diversified, closed-end management investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, organized on July 28, 2020 which has had no operations other than the sale and issuance of 6,250 shares of beneficial interest at an aggregate purchase price of \$125,000 to Thornburg Investment Management, Inc. (the "Adviser"). The shares of common stock are being registered under the Securities Act of 1933 and the proceeds of the initial shares were held in cash. The Fund's investment objective is to provide current income and additional total return.

2 Accounting Policies

The preparation of the financial statement in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statement. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3 Organizational and Offering Expenses

The Adviser has agreed to pay all organizational and offering expenses of the Fund. The Adviser has also agreed to pay, from its own assets, compensation to the underwriters in connection with the offering.

4 Investment Advisory and Other Agreements

Pursuant to an investment management agreement, the Adviser serves as the investment advisor and performs services for the Funds for which the fees are payable at the end of each month. Under the investment advisory agreement, the Fund pays the Adviser a management fee based on an annual rate equal to 1.25% of the Fund's average daily managed assets. "Managed assets" means the total assets of the Fund (including any assets attributable to any leverage that may be outstanding) minus the sum of accrued liabilities (other than debt representing financial leverage and any preferred stock that may be outstanding).

The Fund has entered into an administrative services agreement with the Adviser, whereby the Adviser will perform certain administrative services. The fees are computed as an annual percentage of the average daily managed assets of the Fund aggregated with the average daily net assets of all shares classes of all Funds in the Thornburg Investment Trust as follows:

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES FEE SCHEDULE DAILY MANAGED ASSETS AND NET ASSETS FEE RATE Up to \$20 billion 0.100% \$20 billion to \$40 billion 0.075% \$40 billion to \$60 billion 0.040% Over \$60 billion 0.030%

The Adviser has entered into an "Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement" with the Fund for a two-year term beginning on the date of commencement of operations of the Trust and ending on the two year anniversary thereof (the "Limitation Period") to limit the amount of "Total Annual Expenses", excluding leverage expenses (which include, without limitation, costs associated with the issuance or incurrence of leverage, commitment fees, interest expense or dividends on preferred shares), borne by the Fund to an amount not to exceed 1.65% per annum of the Fund's net assets (the "Expense Cap"). To the extent that "Total Annual Expenses" for a month exceed the Expense Cap, the Adviser will reimburse the Fund for expenses to the extent necessary to eliminate such excess.

Computershare Inc. serves as the Fund's Transfer Agent pursuant to a master Transfer Agency and Service Agreement between the Fund, Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. State Street Bank and Trust Company serves as the Fund's

Custodian pursuant to a Master Custodian Agreement and as the Trust's Accountant pursuant to a Fund Accounting and Support Services Agreement.

The Fund has entered into an Investor Support and Secondary Market Services Agreement with XA Investments, LLC. The fee is 0.20% of the Fund's average daily managed assets and is payable monthly.

5 Federal Income Taxes

The Fund intends to qualify as a "regulated investment company" and as such (and by complying with the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) will not be subject to Federal income tax on taxable income (including realized capital gains) that is distributed to shareholders.

APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS

Short-Term Credit Ratings

An *S&P Global Ratings* short-term issue credit rating is generally assigned to those obligations considered short-term in the relevant market. The following summarizes the rating categories used by S&P Global Ratings for short-term issues:

"A-1" – A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.

 $^{\rm H}$ -2" – A short-term obligation rated "A-2" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is satisfactory.

"A-3" – A short-term obligation rated "A-3" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken an obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"B" – A short-term obligation rated "B" is regarded as vulnerable and has significant speculative characteristics. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments.

"C" – A short-term obligation rated "C" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"D" – A short-term obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within any stated grace period. However, any stated grace period longer than five business days will be treated as five business days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring.

Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings – S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.

"NR" - This indicates that a rating has not been assigned or is no longer assigned.

Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") short-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of thirteen months or less and reflect both on the likelihood of a default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment.

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

"P-1" - Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 reflect a superior ability to repay short-term obligations.

"P-2" - Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 reflect a strong ability to repay short-term obligations.

"P-3" - Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 reflect an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.

"NP" - Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.

"NR" – Is assigned to an unrated issuer.

Fitch, Inc. / Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch") short-term issuer or obligation rating is based in all cases on the short-term vulnerability to default of the rated entity and relates to the capacity to meet financial obligations in accordance with the documentation governing the relevant obligation. Short-term deposit ratings may be adjusted for loss severity. Short-term ratings are assigned to obligations whose initial maturity is viewed as "short-term" based on market convention.¹ Typically, this means up to 13 months for corporate, sovereign, and structured obligations and up to 36 months for obligations in U.S. public finance markets. The following summarizes the rating categories used by Fitch for short-term obligations:

"F1" – Securities possess the highest short-term credit quality. This designation indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.

¹ A long-term rating can also be used to rate an issue with short maturity.

"F2" – Securities possess good short-term credit quality. This designation indicates good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.

"F3" – Securities possess fair short-term credit quality. This designation indicates that the intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.

"B" – Securities possess speculative short-term credit quality. This designation indicates minimal capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.

"C" - Securities possess high short-term default risk. Default is a real possibility.

"RD" – Restricted default. Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or more of its financial commitments, although it continues to meet other financial obligations. Typically applicable to entity ratings only.

"D" – Default. Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, or the default of a short-term obligation.

Plus (+) or minus (-) – The "F1" rating may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show the relative status within that major rating category.

"NR" - Is assigned to an unrated issue of a rated issuer.

The *DBRS Morningstar*[®] *Ratings Limited ("DBRS Morningstar")* short-term debt rating scale provides an opinion on the risk that an issuer will not meet its short-term financial obligations in a timely manner. Ratings are based on quantitative and qualitative considerations relevant to the issuer and the relative ranking of claims. The R-1 and R-2 rating categories are further denoted by the sub-categories "(high)", "(middle)", and "(low)".

The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for commercial paper and short-term debt:

"R-1 (high)" - Short-term debt rated "R-1 (high)" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is exceptionally high. Unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.

"R-1 (middle)" – Short-term debt rated "R-1 (middle)" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is very high. Differs from "R-1 (high)" by a relatively modest degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.

"R-1 (low)" – Short-term debt rated "R-1 (low)" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is substantial. Overall strength is not as favorable as higher rating categories. May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.

"R-2 (high)" – Short-term debt rated "R-2 (high)" is considered to be at the upper end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.

"R-2 (middle)" – Short-term debt rated "R-2 (middle)" is considered to be of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events or may be exposed to other factors that could reduce credit quality.

"R-2 (low)" – Short-term debt rated "R-2 (low)" is considered to be at the lower end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events. A number of challenges are present that could affect the issuer's ability to meet such obligations.

"R-3" – Short-term debt rated "R-3" is considered to be at the lowest end of adequate credit quality. There is a capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due. May be vulnerable to future events and the certainty of meeting such obligations could be impacted by a variety of developments.

"R-4" – Short-term debt rated "R-4" is considered to be of speculative credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is uncertain.

"R-5" – Short-term debt rated "R-5" is considered to be of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet short-term financial obligations as they fall due.

"D" – Short-term debt rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods, a downgrade to "D" may occur. DBRS Morningstar may also use "SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

Long-Term Credit Ratings

The following summarizes the ratings used by S&P Global Ratings for long-term issues:

"AAA" – An obligation rated "AAA" has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is extremely strong.

"AA" – An obligation rated "AA" differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.

"A" – An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is still strong.

"BBB" – An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" – Obligations rated "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. "BB" indicates the least degree of speculation and "C" the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposure to adverse conditions.

"BB" – An obligation rated "BB" is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"B" – An obligation rated "B" is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated "BB", but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"CCC" – An obligation rated "CCC" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.

"CC" – An obligation rated "CC" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The "CC" rating is used when a default has not yet occurred but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.

"C" – An obligation rated "C" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, and the obligation is expected to have lower relative seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared with obligations that are rated higher.

"D" – An obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or 30 calendar days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual

certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring

Plus (+) or minus (-) – The ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the rating categories.

"NR" - This indicates that a rating has not been assigned, or is no longer assigned.

Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings - S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.

Moody's long-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of one year or more. Such ratings reflect both on the likelihood of default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment. The following summarizes the ratings used by Moody's for long-term debt:

"Aaa" - Obligations rated "Aaa" are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk.

"Aa" – Obligations rated "Aa" are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.

"A" – Obligations rated "A" are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

"Baa" – Obligations rated "Baa" are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.

"Ba" - Obligations rated "Ba" are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.

"B" - Obligations rated "B" are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

"Caa" - Obligations rated "Caa" are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

"Ca" – Obligations rated "Ca" are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.

"C" – Obligations rated "C" are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from "Aa" through "Caa." The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

"NR" - Is assigned to unrated obligations.

The following summarizes long-term ratings used by *Fitch*:

"AAA" – Securities considered to be of the highest credit quality. "AAA" ratings denote the lowest expectation of credit risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

"AA" – Securities considered to be of very high credit quality. "AA" ratings denote expectations of very low credit risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

"A" – Securities considered to be of high credit quality. "A" ratings denote expectations of low credit risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.

"BBB" – Securities considered to be of good credit quality. "BBB" ratings indicate that expectations of credit risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

"BB" – Securities considered to be speculative. "BB" ratings indicate that there is an elevated vulnerability to credit risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial commitments to be met.

"B" - Securities considered to be highly speculative. "B" ratings indicate that material credit risk is present

"CCC" - A "CCC" rating indicates that substantial credit risk is present.

"CC" – A "CC" rating indicates very high levels of credit risk.

"C" – A "C" rating indicates exceptionally high levels of credit risk.

Defaulted obligations typically are not assigned "RD" or "D" ratings but are instead rated in the "CCC" to "C" rating categories, depending on their recovery prospects and other relevant characteristics. Fitch believes that this approach better aligns obligations that have comparable overall expected loss but varying vulnerability to default and loss.

Plus (+) or minus (-) may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the "AAA" obligation rating category, or to corporate finance obligation ratings in the categories below "CCC".

"NR" - Is assigned to an unrated issue of a rated issuer.

The **DBRS** Morningstar long-term rating scale provides an opinion on the risk of default. That is, the risk that an issuer will fail to satisfy its financial obligations in accordance with the terms under which an obligation has been issued. Ratings are based on quantitative and qualitative considerations relevant to the issuer, and the relative ranking of claims. All rating categories other than AAA and D also contain subcategories "(high)" and "(low)". The absence of either a "(high)" or "(low)" designation indicates the rating is in the middle of the category. The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for long-term debt:

"AAA" – Long-term debt rated "AAA" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is exceptionally high and unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.

"AA" – Long-term debt rated "AA" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered high. Credit quality differs from "AAA" only to a small degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.

"A" – Long-term debt rated "A" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is substantial, but of lesser credit quality than "AA." May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.

"BBB" – Long-term debt rated "BBB" is of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.

"BB" – Long-term debt rated "BB" is of speculative, non-investment grade credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is uncertain. Vulnerable to future events.

"B" – Long-term debt rated "B" is of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet financial obligations.

"CCC", "CC" and "C" – Long-term debt rated in any of these categories is of very highly speculative credit quality. In danger of defaulting on financial obligations. There is little difference between these three categories, although "CC" and "C" ratings are normally applied to obligations that are seen as highly likely to default, or subordinated to obligations rated in the "CCC" to "B" range. Obligations in respect of which default has not technically taken place but is considered inevitable may be rated in the "C" category.

"D" – A security rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods, a downgrade to "D" may occur. DBRS Morningstar may also use

"SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

Municipal Note Ratings

An *S&P Global Ratings* U.S. municipal note rating reflects S&P Global Ratings' opinion about the liquidity factors and market access risks unique to the notes. Notes due in three years or less will likely receive a note rating. Notes with an original maturity of more than three years will most likely receive a long-term debt rating. In determining which type of rating, if any, to assign, S&P Global Ratings' analysis will review the following considerations:

- Amortization schedule the larger the final maturity relative to other maturities, the more likely it will be treated as a note; and
- Source of payment the more dependent the issue is on the market for its refinancing, the more likely it will be treated as a note.

Municipal Short-Term Note rating symbols are as follows:

"SP-1" - A municipal note rated "SP-1" exhibits a strong capacity to pay principal and interest. An issue determined to possess a very strong capacity to pay debt service is given a plus (+) designation.

"SP-2" – A municipal note rated "SP-2" exhibits a satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest, with some vulnerability to adverse financial and economic changes over the term of the notes.

"SP-3" - A municipal note rated "SP-3" exhibits a speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.

"D" – This rating is assigned upon failure to pay the note when due, completion of a distressed debt restructuring, or the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions.

Moody's uses the global short-term Prime rating scale (listed above under Short-Term Credit Ratings) for commercial paper issued by U.S. municipalities and nonprofits. These commercial paper programs may be backed by external letters of credit or liquidity facilities, or by an issuer's self-liquidity.

For other short-term municipal obligations, Moody's uses one of two other short-term rating scales, the Municipal Investment Grade ("MIG") and Variable Municipal Investment Grade ("VMIG") scales provided below.

Moody's uses the MIG scale for U.S. municipal cash flow notes, bond anticipation notes and certain other short-term obligations, which typically mature in three years or less. Under certain circumstances, Moody's uses the MIG scale for bond anticipation notes with maturities of up to five years.

MIG Scale

"MIG-1" – This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by established cash flows, highly reliable liquidity support, or demonstrated broad-based access to the market for refinancing.

"MIG-2" – This designation denotes strong credit quality. Margins of protection are ample, although not as large as in the preceding group.

"MIG-3" – This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Liquidity and cash-flow protection may be narrow, and market access for refinancing is likely to be less well-established.

"SG" – This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Debt instruments in this category may lack sufficient margins of protection.

"NR" - Is assigned to an unrated obligation.

In the case of variable rate demand obligations ("VRDOs"), a two-component rating is assigned. The components are a long-term rating and a short-term demand obligation rating. The long-term rating addresses the issuer's ability to meet scheduled principal and interests payments. The short-term demand obligation rating addresses the ability of the issuer or the liquidity provider to make payments associated with the purchase-price-upon demand feature ("demand feature") of the VRDO. The short-term demand obligation rating uses the VMIG scale. VMIG ratings with liquidity support use as an input the short-term Counterparty Risk Assessment of the support provider, or the long-term rating of the underlying obligor in the absence of third party liquidity support. Transitions of VMIG ratings of demand obligations with conditional liquidity support differ from transitions on the Prime scale to reflect the risk that external liquidity support will terminate if the issuer's long-term rating drops below investment grade.

Moody's typically assigns the VMIG short-term demand obligation rating if the frequency of the demand feature is less than every three years. If the frequency of the demand feature is less than three years but the purchase price is payable only with remarketing proceeds, the short-term demand obligation rating is "NR".

"VMIG-1" – This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by the superior short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

"VMIG-2" – This designation denotes strong credit quality. Good protection is afforded by the strong short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

"VMIG-3" – This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Adequate protection is afforded by the satisfactory short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections that ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

"SG" – This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Demand features rated in this category may be supported by a liquidity provider that does not have a sufficiently strong short-term rating or may lack the structural and/or legal protections necessary to ensure the timely payment of purchase price upon demand.

"NR" - Is assigned to an unrated obligation.

About Credit Ratings

An *S&P Global Ratings* issue credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation, a specific class of financial obligations, or a specific financial program (including ratings on medium-term note programs and commercial paper programs). It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers, or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation and takes into account the currency in which the obligation is denominated. The opinion reflects S&P Global Ratings' view of the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due, and this opinion may assess terms, such as collateral security and subordination, which could affect ultimate payment in the event of default.

Ratings assigned on *Moody's* global long-term and short-term rating scales are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations issued by non-financial corporates, financial institutions, structured finance vehicles, project finance vehicles, and public sector entities.

Fitch's credit ratings are forward-looking opinions on the relative ability of an entity or obligation to meet financial commitments. Issuer default ratings (IDRs) are assigned to corporations, sovereign entities, financial institutions such as banks, leasing companies and insurers, and public finance entities (local and regional governments). Issue level ratings are also assigned, often include an expectation of recovery and may be notched above or below the issuer level rating. Issue ratings are assigned to secured and unsecured debt securities, loans, preferred stock and other instruments. Credit ratings are indications of the likelihood of repayment in accordance with the terms of the issuance. In limited cases, Fitch may include additional considerations (i.e., rate to a higher or lower standard than that implied in the obligation's documentation)..

DBRS Morningstar offers independent, transparent, and innovative credit analysis to the market.Credit ratings are forward-looking opinions about credit risk that reflect the creditworthiness of an issuer, rated entity, security and/or obligation based on DBRS

Morningstar's quantitative and qualitative analysis in accordance with applicable methodologies and criteria. They are meant to provide opinions on relative measures of risk and are not based on expectations of, or meant to predict, any specific default probability. Credit ratings are not statements of fact. DBRS Morningstar issues credit ratings using one or more categories, such as public, private, provisional, final(ized), solicited, or unsolicited.1 From time to time, credit ratings may also be subject to trends, placed under review, or discontinued.DBRS Morningstar credit ratings are determined by credit rating committees.